NEXTera
=N=SC 7

RESOURCES

Swan Lake Wind Project

Overview Benefits
» Located in Yankton and Turner » Provides employment opportunities
counties, South Dakota » Adds tax revenue benefiting schools and local civic service
» Expected maximum capacity of up to » Supports economy through purchases of regional goods and services
tzuélrgirr%esgawatts produced by 97 wind » Provides landowner lease payments
» Increased local spending for goods and services during construction
» Owned and operated by a subsidiary » Charitable contributions to local organizations

of NextEra Energy Resources, LLC

4

Creates no air or water pollution
Uses no water in power generation

7
v

Pending local and state approvals, »
expected to begin commercial
operation by the end of 2027

4

Allows land to remain in agricultural use

Projected Local Economic Impact

About NextEra Energy Construction Jobs: ~ Approx.400
Resources, LLC Full-Time Operations Jobs: Approx. 3-5
» A leading clean energy provider
operating wind, natural gas, solar Landowner Payments: Approx. $1.3 million per year
and nuclear power plants Al figures are estimated and subject to change.

» A portfolio of power generating

facilities across the United States and . .
in Canada How a Wind Turbine Works

» The world's largest generator of
wind and solar energy

Gearbox Nacelle Generator Weather Station

» A subsidiary of NextEra Energy, Inc.,
with headquarters in Juno Beach, |

Florida 1

» Approximately 99% of the electricity “ i
we generate comes from clean or
renewable sources -

» We operate more than 155 wind
projects in 22 states and Canada
with more than 23,380 megawatts of
generation from more than 11,000
wind turbines
NextEraEnergyResources.com


http://www.dodgecountywind.com/

Proposed Setback Siting Guidelines for
Wind Energy Projects in Yankton County

Christopher Ollson, PhD
Ollson Environmental Health Management

OLLS®N

Environmental Health Management




Dr. Ollson Qualifications

. Doctorate in Environmental Health Science

. Over 25 years in international
environmental risk assessment and health
consulting

. Owner of Ollson Environmental Health
Sciences for the past 10 years

. Adjunct Professor University of Toronto

. 15 years of researching potential health
impacts for those living in proximity to
renewable energy and transmission lines

. Testified before numerous county
commissions, state hearings, and court
cases as a qualified expert in the field

. Involved in over 25 GW of renewable
energy projects across 26 States.

. Consultant of record for State of Vermont
during wind siting rule making and
appeared before Senate Committees in
Kansas, North Dakota and Indiana

fromtiers im
PUBLIC HEALTH

=
REVIEW ARTICLE ==
published: 18 June 2014
doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2014.00063

Wind turbines and human health

Loren D. Knopper'*, Christopher A. Ollson’, Lindsay C. McCallum', Melissa L. Whitfield Aslund’,
Robert G. Berger', Kathleen Souweine? and Mary McDaniel?

Health-based audible noise guidelines account for
infrasound and low-frequency noise produced by
wind turbines

Robert G. Berger', Payam Ashtiani?, Christopher A. Ollson?®, Melissa Whitfield Aslund?,
Lindsay C. McCallum?®*, Geoff Leventhall® and Loren D. Knopper?®*

VIRONMENTAL HEALTH

i n
H Highly accessed
Review — RESEARCH Open Access

Health effects and wind turbines: A review of
the literature

Measuring electromagnetic fields (EMF) around
wind turbines in Canada: is there a human health
concern?

Lindsay C McCallum'?, Melissa L Whitfield Aslund’, Loren D Knopper’, Glenn M Ferguson® and Christopher & Olison®”

" owey N i Letter to Editor: Are the findings of “Effects of industrial
gﬁ wind turbine noise on sleep and health” supported?
»_. Health

Loren D Knopper'™ and Christopher A Ollson’

Contents lists available at SeienceDirect

Energy Policy

journal hamepage: wiw.alsavier.com/locate/onpol

Christopher A. Ollson,
Loren D. Knopper. Lindsay C. McCallum,
Melissa L. Whitfield-Aslund

Naise & Health, March-April 2013, Volume 15:63, 148-52

Projected contributions of future wind farm development

to community noise and annoyance levels in Ontario, Canada AL bl ot sl
s missrrcthany

Melissa L. Whitfield Aslund, Christopher A. Ollson, Loren D. Knopper *

OLLS®N

Environmental Health Management




W, Setback Considerations

~ —~
= <
2Pty

Sound ~105 dBA




LS®N

ntal Health Management



Other Jurisdiction Turbine Setbacks

State Examples Minimum Setback for Wind Turbines from Residential Dwellings
North Dakota (State) One and one-tenth times the height of the turbine from the property line of a

nonparticipating landowner and three times the height of the turbine from an
inhabited rural residence of a nonparticipating landowner, unless a variance is

granted.

Wisconsin (State) The lessor of 1,250 feet or 3.1 times the maximum blade tip height to homes.

New York (State) Non-participating, non-residential Structures 1.5 times, non-participating
residences 2 times

Illinois (State) 1.1 times tip height to non-participating property lines, 2.1 times tip height to non-
participating receptors.

Michigan (State) 2.1 times from occupied community buildings and residences on nonparticipating
properties
1.1 times from non-participating property lines

South Dakota (County and PUC) Typically 1,500 ft to non-participating homes and 1.1x total height to non-
participating property lines.

Nebraska (County) Varies county by county but most common between 1,000 ft to 1,500 ft

Kansas (County) Varies county by county but most common between 1,000 ft to 1,500

« Typical setback to a non-participating residence is 1,500 ft or 2-3x total height

« 1.1x to total turbine height to non-participating property lines

OLLS®N

Environmental Health Management




State of Wind Turbine Research and
Health Effects

« 20 years of research in the field

« Over 150 peer-reviewed research papers published in the field

« Findings support:

Sound levels 45 dBA at non-participating homes
Shadow flicker <30 hours a year

Setbacks 1.1x tip height to roads, property lines, transmission lines,
etc..

Setbacks 2-3x tip height to non-participating homes (based primarily on
achieving sound limits) and no great than 1,500 ft is required.

OLLS®N

nmental Health Management




¥l Ca S

Sound - 46 dBA
Setback - 820 ft

WIND TURBINE
NOISE AND
HEALTH STUDY:

SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS

Largest study ever undertaken around the
world.

The following were not found to be associated with wind turbine
noise:

a. self-reported sleep (e.g., general disturbance, use of sleep
medication, diagnosed sleep disorders);

b. self-reported illnesses (e.g., dizziness, tinnitus, prevalence of
frequent migraines and headaches) and chronic health conditions
(e.g., heart disease, high blood pressure and diabetes); and

c. self-reported perceived stress and quality of life.

The overall conclusion to emerge from the study findings is that
the study found no evidence of an association between
exposure to WTN and the prevalence of self-reported or
measured health effects.

Support by US, Australian and European Studies.

OLLS®N

Environmental Health Management




Wind Turbine Sound Guidelines

« The majority of South Dakota Counties and the
Public Utilities Commission has approved a 45 dBA
10-minute Leq at non-participating homes.

« The use of a non-participating property sound
standard is not advised, however, those that have it
typically require no more than 50 dBA at non-
participating property lines that have existing
residences.

« 45 dBA sound level at non-participating residences
is the most common county and State-level
standard across the US.

Sound Standard 45 dBA at non-participating residences protects public health.

OLLS®N

Environmental Health Management




LOW FREQUENCY NOISE
AND
INFRASOUND

0 20 Hz 200 Hz 2 000 Hz 10 000 Hz 20 000 Hz

| l

Bass 2
Medium sounds Treble sounds

sounds

infrasounds

Tech.
Frequency of SPCECh HearingProTech.com

Range of human perception

Scale of sound frequencies

S

ultrasound

OLLS®N

Environmental Health Management




Shadow Flicker

Shadow flicker does not induce seizures.

Wind turbines quite simply don’t rotate fast enough.

Shadow flicker is not a health concern

OEHM Agrees with the Wind Task Force Shadow
Flicker Recommendation

* No more than 30 hours a year of shadow flicker
ensures a reduction of annoyance in neighbors.

OLLS®N

Environmental Health Management




PHYSICAL SAFETY
CONSIDERATIONS

OLLS®N




Journal of Physics: Conference Series —

Risk Assessment of Ice Throw

PAPER - OPEN ACCESS

Understanding and acknowledging the ice throw
hazard - consequences for regulatory frameworks,
risk perception and risk communication

To cite this article: R. E. Bredesen et a/ 2017 J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 926 012001

Angular ice-throw distances from B s'sgmi rotated by stated wind direction

...
&
across.wind istance [m]

2i5* 33

e
along-wind distance [m]

Wind direction
 ——

- »

+
+

U=4.5m/s
U=54m/s
U=6.8Bm/s
U=7.0m/s
U=8.4m/s
LI=8 Om/s
U=11.0m/s
U=13.1m/s

Figure 6. 417 ice pieces from the IceThrower database for the considered V90 turbine with a tipheight
of 140 m. The location of all ice pieces are rotated by the given wind direction for each given case. _— O L L So N

Events are listed A-H by colored markers for increasing wind velocities.

Environmental Health Management



Blade Fragment Throw and Tower Collapse

Source of Fatality Annual Risk Assumptions ZE
HSE reite

Wind turbine - Direct impact by blade/fragment 107 At 2x hub height from wind

turbine

N o 5 _ . Study and development of a methodology for the

Wind turbine - Indirect impact by blade/fragment 10 At 2x hub height from wind . . .

turbine estimation of the risk and harm to persons from
Cancer 258x10°% Averaged over population. wind turbines

England & Wales 1999
Lightning 535x10° England & Wales 1995-1999 Prepared by MMI Engineering Ltd

for the Health and Safety Executive 2013

Mining Industry 1.09x10% GB 1996-2001
Construction Industry 5.88x107 GB 1996-2001
Agriculture 581x107° GB 1996-2001
Service Industry 3.00x10° GB 1996-2001
Fairground Rides 479x10° Assumes 4x rides per annum.

UK 1996-2000
Road Accidents (all forms) 595x10° UK 1999
Rail Travel Accidents (per passenger journeys) 232x10° Fatality per passenger joumeys

GB 1996-1997
Eail Travel Accidents (annual risk - commuter) 1.05 x107 Annual nisk of fatality: 2 daily

Jjourneys, 45 weeks per year
Aircraft Accident (per passenger journeys) 8.00x10° Fatality per passenger journeys

UK 1991-2000
Aircraft Accident (annual risk — holidaymaker)  1.60x10° Annual nisk of fatality: 2 flights

per annum

OLLS®N

Environmental Health Management




GE Renewable Energy

Technical Documentation

Wind Turbine Generator Systems

All Onshore Turbine Types

General Description

Setback Considerations for Wind Turbine Siting

imagination at work

Setback Distance from center of turbine tower

Objects of concern within the setback distance

All turbine sites (blade failure/ice throw):
11lxtip heightl, with a minimum setback distance of
170 meters

- Public use areas
- Residences

- Office buildings
- Public buildings
- Parking lots

- Public roads

- Moderately or heavily traveled roads ificing is likely
- Heavily traveled multi-lane freeways and motorways if
icing is not likely

- Passenger railroads

All turbine sites (tower collapse):
Lixtip height1

- Public use areas

- Residences

- Office buildings

- Public buildings

- Parking lots

- Heavily traveled multi-lane freeways and motorways
- Sensitive above ground services”

All turbine sites (rotor sweep/falling objects):
1.1xblade IengthEi

- Property not owned by wind farm participantsq
- Buildings

- Non-building structures

- Public and private roads

- Railroads

- Sensitive above ground services

© 2018 General Electric Company. All ights reserved.

ULLOWIN

Environmental Health Management



OEHM Setback Recommendations

Yankton Existing Ordinance

Yankton Wind Task Force
Recommendation

OEHM Recommendation

Distance from on-site or lessor’s residence shall be

Partl_C|pat|ng one thousand (1,000) feet. 1.5 times total height 1,000 fe_et or 1.5x total height,
Residences whichever is greater
Non- Distance from existing off-site residences, business
Participatin and public buildings shall be one thousand three 2 miles 1,500 feet or 3x total height,
Resi P 9 hundred and twenty feet (1,320) feet. whichever is greater
esidences
Distance from any property line shall be 500 feet or
one point one (1.1) times the height of the wind
Non- turbines depending upon which is greater, measured )
Participating | from the ground surface to the tip of the blade when in 2 miles 1.1x (110%) total height of the
| - turbine
position unless wind easement has been obtained
from adjoining property owner.
Participating 1.5 times total height No setback

property lines

500 feet or one point one (1.1) times the height of the

Public ROW : : : o . . 1.1 x (110%) total height of the
and Roads wind turbines depending upon which is greater 1.5 times total height turbine
Municipal 2 miles 5,280 feet (1 mile)
Boundaries
0 .
Utilities 1.5 times total height 1.1 x (110%) total height of the

turbine

Lakes, Rivers
and Stream

1 Mile from all lakes, rivers
and streams

1 mile from identified Lake Districts o
valued recreational lakes, no N
setbacks for rivers or Streams  —
Mianagement




OEHM Sound / Shadow Flicker Recommendations

Yankton Yankton Wind Task Force OEHM Recommendation

Existing Recommendation

Ordinance

Noise level Noise level shall not exceed 45 | Noise level shall not exceed 45 dBA,

shall not dB, including constructive average A-weighted Sound pressure

exceed 60 dB, | interference effects, measured | including constructive interference effects

including at the closest point on the measured twenty-five (25) feet from at the

constructive closest non-participating perimeter of the principal and accessory

interference property line from the base of structures of existing off-site non-

effects, the system. The noise level participating residences, businesses, and

measured at shall not exceed 35 dB at the buildings owned and/or maintained by a

Sound the closest nearest non-participating governmental entity.

point on the residence.

closest Noise level shall not exceed 50 dBA,

property line average A-weighted Sound pressure

from the base including constructive interference effects

of the system. measured twenty-five (25) feet from the
perimeter of participating residences,
businesses, and buildings owned and/or
maintained by a governmental entity.

Shadow Flicker

No more than 30 hours a year at

residences

]

Sound

Participating: 50 dBA
Non-participating: 45 dBA
No property line standard

Yankton
Existing
Ordinance

Yankton Wind Task Force Recommendation

OEHM
Recommendation

Shadow
Flicker

A Flicker Analysis shall include the duration and location of flicker potential
for all schools, churches, businesses and dwellings within a two (2) mile
radius of each turbine within a project. The applicant shall provide a site
map identifying the locations of shadow flicker that may be caused by the
project and the expected durations of the flicker at these locations from sun-
rise to sun-set over the course of a year. The analysis shall account for
topography but not for obstacles such as accessory structures and trees.
Flicker at any receptor shall not exceed thirty (30) hours per year within the
analysis area. A Shadow Flicker Control System shall be installed upon all
turbines which will cause a shadow effect upon an occupied residential
dwelling. Exception: The Board of Adjustment may allow for a greater
amount of flicker than identified above if the participating or non-
participating landowners agree to said amount of flicker. If approved, such
agreement shall be permanently attached to the approved conditional use
permit and shall be filed as a permanent encumbrance against the legally
described parcel(s) for which the waiver is granted.

Use language
proposed by
Yankton County
Wind Task Force
replace receptor
with residence




Conclusion

 The Wind Task Force sound and setback recommendations are
excessive and provide no additional protection of public health,
safety and welfare of Yankton County Residents over standard
regulations that have been in place for 20 years across South
Dakota.

« Adopting the draft ordinance would effectively sterilize the County
from any wind development.

 The Planning Commission is urged to establish setbacks and sound
levels based on science, engineering and best practices.

OLLS®N

nmental Health Management




Christopher Ollson, PhD

Ollson Environmental Health
Management

christopher.ollson@agmail.com

OLLS®N

Environmental Health Management



mailto:christopher.ollson@gmail.com

Proposed Setback Siting
Guidelines for Wind
Energy Projects

In Yankton County, SD

Prepared for:

Yankton County Planning Commission
321 West 31 Street, Suite 100
Yankton, SD, 57078

May 13, 2024

OLLS®N

Environmental Health Management




OLLS®N

Health

Proposed Setback Siting Guidelines
for Wind Energy Projects in Yankton County, SD

Ollson Environmental Health Management

The United States continues to see exponential growth in the installation of wind turbines across
the country. Over the years onshore wind turbines have grown from 1.5 megawatt (MW) machines
(~400 feet tall) to the current models typically ranging from >2.5 MW to 7 MW (500 feet to over 700
feet). There are over 70,000 wind turbines across the United States and more than 1,000 in South
Dakota. It is anticipated that the need for wind energy will continue to expand, especially in light of
state and federal renewable energy targets.

With the growth of the industry has come the need to develop proper siting guidelines to ensure
the protection of wildlife, the environment, and public health. There are no overarching federal
guidelines that govern wind turbine installation and their interaction with local residents. The South
Dakota Public Utilities Commission (PUC) has recently approved a number of wind turbine projects
that have established reasonable sound, shadow flicker and setback guidelines for wind turbine
projects.

Yankton County appointed a number of interested citizens to a Wind Turbine Task Force. Over the
past couple of months, the Task Force met on several occasions to establish recommended
changes to the Yankton County Ordinance Article 26 — Wind Energy Conversion Systems (WECS).
These proposed changes have been sent to the Yankton County Planning Commission for
consideration for recommendation to the Yankton County Commissioners.

Dr. Christopher Ollson of Ollson Environmental Health Sciences (OEHM) has been commissioned
by NextEra Energy Resources to review the changes proposed to the Yankton County Ordinance.
Dr. Olison has over 15 years of experience researching and working in the wind industry across
North America to develop science-based wind

turbine siting ~ criteria that ensures  the OEHM recommends that the Yankton County Planning

protection of public health and safety. Dr.
Ollson’s research has been presented at
numerous international scientific conferences.
He has been formally qualified to provide
expert opinion evidence on wind turbines and
potential health effects at a number of North
American hearings, tribunals and legal cases.
Dr. Ollson has appeared before numerous
County Planning & Zoning and County
Commissions across the country, including in

Commission not adopt the proposed draft LWECS
ordinance. Based on the available scientific literature the
draft ordinance is excessive and will not allow for
construction of wind projects in the county. The common
sound, shadow flicker and setback distances in place

across numerous South Dakota counties with operating
wind turbines are more than sufficient to ensure the
protection of the public health and safety of residents.
There is no scientific basis to increase these setbacks. It
would afford no additional protection of public health and
safety and would unduly restrict areas for development.

South Dakota and before the South Dakota PUC.

| have had the opportunity to watch all of the Wind Task Force meetings in their entirety. Although
| applaud the efforts and time taken by the Wind Turbine Task Force, | cannot support all of the
proposed changes. This report provides comments and suggestions for the Planning Commission
to consider that will ensure the public health and safety of local residents in the event that any wind
project is constructed in Yankton County.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Setting Science-Based Wind Enerqgy Siting Requirements

There is no question that setting appropriate wind turbine siting guidelines for sound and distance
setback to homes is a complicated undertaking. As with any energy production project one needs
to balance community concerns with the need for the renewable energy and economic benefits,
while still ensuring the protection of public health and welfare of the local population.

Appropriate setback distances to dwellings go hand in hand with sound and shadow flicker
standards to ensure protection of public health and welfare. In addition, setbacks need to account
for public safety issues with respect to potential ice throw, blade failure, and tower collapse. Public
safety setback distances are often set both to non-participating property lines and dwellings
themselves.

Over the past twenty years there has been extensive research evaluating public health, safety and
welfare concerns of those living in proximity to wind turbines. This independent research by
university professors, consultants and government agencies has taken place in many different
countries on a variety of turbine models, many of which have been in communities for years. It is
on the basis of this research that municipalities should set appropriate setbacks to dwelling. Caution
should be exercised to not establish excessive setbacks that afford no additional benefit or
protection of public health and safety.

Common Sound, Shadow Flicker and Setback Standards for Wind Energy Projects

The most common audible sound limit used across South Dakota counties and accepted by the
PUC is a 45 dBA (10 min Leq) at the exterior of non-participating homes and 50 dBA at participating
homes. This protects against direct and indirect potential health impacts, while ensuring people’s
quality of life and enjoyment of their property. This sound standard has been adopted by several
states (North Dakota and New York), while other states have higher sound limits of 50 dBA or
greater at non-participating homes (Minnesota, lllinois and Michigan)

The setback distance required to meet this stringent 45 dBA sound standard at most dwellings
would be approximately 1,500 ft. This is confirmed by individual sound modeling reports produced
for each new proposed project. The PUC has also established condition of approval at many
projects of a shadow flicker guideline of no more than 30 hours a year.

There is no overarching South Dakota setback siting criteria, guidelines or regulations for wind
energy projects. Instead, local counties establish what they believe to be reasonable siting criteria
for wind turbines in relation to dwellings. Setbacks in South Dakota typically are fixed distances
that range from 1,000 to 1,500 ft or a multiplier of turbine height to the home (3 times total turbine
height).

Setbacks to property lines tend to range from 1.1 times total height to 1.5 times total height to
property lines and roads that ensures the protection of public safety.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 1l
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Potential Health Effects and Wind Enerqgy Projects

Wind turbine setbacks from homes and property lines should, at least in part, be based on the
science of potential health implications for those living in proximity. The most significant public
health research on how living near a wind energy project could impact health was published after
2015. The weight of public health scientific evidence finds:

e There is no association between wind turbine sound levels of up to 46 dBA at the exterior
of non-participating homes and impact on sleep.

e There is no association between distance from wind turbine to homes and does not impact
sleep or other potential health impacts.

e The level of low frequency noise or infrasound from wind turbines at non-participating
homes does not cause sleep disturbance or other health effects. The levels are typically
within background levels at homes and are well below levels that could induce health
impacts.

e The results from the largest study in the world conducted by Health Canada did not show
any statistically significant increase in the self-reported prevalence of chronic pain, asthma,
arthritis, high blood pressure, bronchitis, emphysema, chronic obstructive pulmonary
disease (COPD), diabetes, heart disease, migraines/headaches, dizziness, or tinnitus in
relation to WTN exposure up to 46 dBA. In other words, individuals with these conditions
were equally distributed among people living at all sound levels and distances from 1000
ft to 7 miles in the study area. This is supported by numerous other studies in the United
States and around the world.

e There will always be a percentage of people that self-report annoyance with having to live
near wind projects, regardless of whatever sound or setback distances are permitted. This
is a well-understood scientifically documented phenomenon. Levels of self-reported
annoyance are largely driven by one’s feelings towards how the turbines change the visual
nature of the landscape and their perception of the perceived fairness in the permitting
process for a project. The level of annoyance one feels towards the wind projects has been
shown to not impact one’s health. Therefore, it would be inappropriate to base wind turbine
sound and setback standards on people’s annoyance levels.

e Public safety setbacks of 110% (or 1.1 times) tip height of a wind turbine to property lines
and roads ensure protection against ice throw, blade failure, and tower collapse.

Socio-Economic Determinants of Health and Wind Energy Projects

Wind energy projects bring clear socio-economic health benefits to host communities. These are
in the form of taxes, landowner payments, jobs, potential impact on healthcare costs and an offset
for the need for fossil fuel derived energy. These all have indirect health benefits at the individual
and community level. At the same time wind energy projects allow for continued use and enjoyment
of rural areas.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects .
Yankton County Planning Commission v
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Consideration of Visual Impact of Wind Turbines in the County

Another issue in determining appropriate setbacks is the cumulative effect and visual impact of
projects on community members. Often the question becomes how many turbines in a community
are enough and how far should they be setback for impact on viewscape. There are two distinct
issues with respect to this topic. The first is the cumulative effect of the number of wind turbines on
public health from sound and shadow flicker. The second is the visual aspect of the turbines on the
horizon.

First, health impacts are assessed by the adherence to the sound and shadow flicker standards,
regardless of the number of turbines in an area. Each of the sound and shadow flicker standards
require an assessment of the cumulative effect of the individual project, as well as any adjacent
project within the area. That is because the largest zone of influence of sound from one turbine to
the next is within 1.5 miles and the same is true for shadow flicker. That means that cumulative
effects from all proposed and existing wind turbines are always accounted for.

In terms of the visual aspect of turbines on the horizon, beauty is truly in the eye of the beholder.
There are numerous studies that describe that approximately 10% of the population living in
proximity to a wind turbine will be annoyed by their presence. However, given that wind turbines
do not impact property values, impact health or result in other impacts on quality-of-life OEHM does
not believe that Counties should use visual cue as the basis to increase setback distances to
turbines. This would effectively be a roundabout way of zoning out wind turbines based on visual
appearance. There are Counties across the United States that host hundreds of wind turbines
without impact on their communities. In addition, setbacks to try and limit the impact of wind turbines
on the landscape are not effective, essentially if one can see a turbine on the horizon and they do
not want them, no setback distance will be effective in changing their mind.

OEHM Recommended Sound and Setback Siting Guidelines for Consideration by Yankton
County

The Yankton County Wind Task Force proposed sound and setback amendments to the zoning
ordinance are far too restrictive, are not aligned with other counties or jurisdictions that have hosted
operating turbines, in some cases for 20 years in South Dakota, and afford no greater protection of
public health and safety that other jurisdictions.

Based on totality of these findings OEHM believes that the following siting guidelines are protective
of public health, while providing a reasonable balance between community concerns and
achievable project siting constraints:

e Noise level shall not exceed 45 dBA, average A-weighted Sound pressure including
constructive interference effects measured twenty-five (25) feet from at the perimeter of
the principal and accessory structures of existing off-site non-participating residences,
businesses, and buildings owned and/or maintained by a governmental entity.

Noise level shall not exceed 50 dBA, average A-weighted Sound pressure including
constructive interference effects measured twenty-five (25) feet from the perimeter of
participating residences, businesses, and buildings owned and/or maintained by a
governmental entity.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission \
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

e Shadow flicker at residences shall not exceed 30 hours per year unless the owner of the
residence has signed a waiver. Prior to construction, the Applicant shall obtain and file with
a waiver for any occupied structure which will experience more than 30 hours of shadow
flicker per year. If no waiver is obtained, Applicant shall file a mitigation and obtain approval
of the plan prior to construction. (This is similar language as proposed by the Wind Task
Force).

¢ Infrasound and low frequency noise, although emitted from wind turbines, have been
demonstrated to be at level that is too low to be of health concern. Therefore, no additional
setback standard is required.

e Public safety setbacks of 110% (or 1.1 times) tip height of a wind turbine to non-
participating property lines, utilities and roads ensure protection against ice throw, blade
failure, and tower collapse. Further distances are not recommended and not required to
protect public safety. There is no need to published setback restrictions to participating
property lines.

e Setback to Municipal boundaries: 5,280 ft or 1 mile

e Setback to residences:
o Participating residences: 1,000 ft or 1.5x total height
o Non-Participating residences: 1,500 ft or 2-3x total height

These recommended siting guidelines are consistent with requirements of other South Dakota
Counties, have been approved by the SD PUC, many counties in Midwestern states, and in most
State-level requirements across the United States.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects .
Yankton County Planning Commission Vi
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Table of Contents

BT 0 010 0 L0 Ut 0 ) 4 1
2 Considerations for Developing Science-Based Setback Regulations.............. 2
3 Review of Health Research with Living in Proximity to Wind Turbines....... 3
4 Sound and Shadow Flicker Guidelines in South Dakota........cccounininnessnsnsanans 4

4.1.1  South Dakota SOUNd Standards .......ceeeenneenesnesessessesssesssesssssssssssesssesssssssssessssssssnes 4

4.1.2  ShAdOW FICKET oottt sssss s ss s sssess s s s 7
5 Setback Guidelines in Other Jurisdictions.........irnnnsssssssssssnn, 10
6 Consideration Cumulative Effects and Visual Aspect of Wind Turbines.....12

7 Conclusion on Setting a Proper Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
13

8  ReferenCes....is s ————————————— 15
9 Health Research Supporting the Proper Siting of Wind Turbines................. 19
9.1 Sound (Noise): Audible, Low Frequency and Infrasound.........c.coussssssmsssssesenens 19
0.1.1  AUAIDIE SOUNG ..ottt eeseises et s s bbb 20
9.1.2 Low Frequency Noise and INfrasound........ceeneenseenseenseessessecessessessssessesssessseens 27

9.2 Other Potential Health CONCErnS.........conmmmmmsssssss 32
9.2.1 Peer Reviewed Studies on Self-Reported and Objective Measures of Health ....32

9.3 Recent Systematic Review on Wind Turbines and Health.........ccccoovminsscinsennns 34
10 Quality of Life and Wind Turbines........c.ccnmmmmnnmmmmmm: 37
11  Shadow FlicKer ... 38
11.1.1 Shadow Flicker Health, Annoyance and NUISAnCe ........couoermernreenmernneesseessesseceseennees 39
11.1.2  Shadow FliCKer STANAArds .......ceeemeeseemeesesesessessesssesssssssssssesssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssasssees 40

12 Physical Health and Safety Considerations for Determining Appropriate
Sethback DIStANCES ... 43

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects .
Yankton County Planning Commission Vil
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

List of Figures
Figure 1. Setback considerations for Siting of Wind Turbines ...........ccccceiiiiiiiii i, 2

Figure 2. Measurements of infrasound and low frequency noise 300 m from wind turbines

compared t0 OTNEI SOUICES. .........eiiiiiiiiii ittt e e s 31
List of Table

Table 1. Noise/Sound standards in South Dakota Counties. ...........cccceeiiiiriiii i 5
Table 2. State-level SOUNd reqQUIFEMENTS .......cciiiiiiiii e e e e rree e e e eraeee e 6
Table 3. ShAadOW FICKET ...ttt st e e s sae e e e sae e e e rneee e eneeeens 9
Table 4. Setback Distances South Dakota ............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiic e 11
Table 5. Typical North American Jurisdiction Wind Turbine Setbacks from Homes.................... 12
Table 6. Self-reported magnitude and contributing sources of sleep disturbance....................... 22

Table 7. Sound sources of sleep disturbance in rural and urban area types, only respondents who
did not benefit economically from wind turbines (Bakker et al, 201)..........ccccoeiiiiiiiiiennne 23

Table 8. Infrasound Measurements Near Wind Turbines and other Sources (Turnbull, 2012) ... 29
Table 9. Sample profile of health conditions (Michaud et al., 2016a). ...........ccceeiieiiieiiieeeen. 34
Table 10. Ice Throw Strike Probabilities (Garrad Hassan, 2007).........cccooieeiiieeiniee e 43

Appendix A Review of Health Implications for Living Around Wind Turbines as the Relate to
Setbacks to Residences

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission viil
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

1 Introduction

The United States continues to see exponential growth in the installation of wind turbines across
the country. Over the years onshore wind turbines have grown from 1.5 megawatt (MW) machines
(~400 feet tall) to the current models typically ranging from >2.5 MW to 7 MW (500 feet to over 700
feet). There are over 70,000 wind turbines across the United States and more than 1,000 in South
Dakota. It is anticipated that the need for wind energy will continue to expand, especially in light of
state and federal renewable energy targets.

With the growth of the industry has come the need to develop proper siting guidelines to ensure
the protection of wildlife, the environment, and public health. There are no overarching federal
guidelines that govern wind turbine installation and their interaction with local residents. The South
Dakota Public Utilities Commission (PUC) has recently approved a number of wind turbine projects
that have established reasonable sound, shadow flicker and setback guidelines for wind turbine
projects.

In recent years, communities have raised concerns about having wind turbines placed in close
proximity to their homes. These issues include concerns around distance of the towers to their
homes and property lines, the change to the landscape that comes with construction of a wind
project, the sound they will experience at their homes, shadow flicker and safety issues involving
ice throw and structural failure of the turbines. It is these issues that need to be addressed when
determining appropriate siting criteria for protection of public health, while still ensuring that
regulations are not so overly restrictive that projects cannot be built.

Community concerns have led to an explosion of misinformation on the Internet with respect to how
living in proximity to wind turbines may impact health. This is not unique to wind turbines and is
similar to other modernization efforts and changes to the environment that are typically
accompanied by unsupported health claims (e.g., EMF from transmission lines, cellular towers, and
cellular phones).

Yankton County appointed a number of interested citizens to a Wind Turbine Task Force. Over the
past couple of months, the Task Force met on several occasions to establish recommended
changes to the Yankton County Ordinance Article 26 — Large Wind Energy Conversion Systems
(LWECS). These proposed changes have been sent to the Yankton County Planning Commission
for consideration for recommendation to the Yankton County Commissioners. | have had the
opportunity to watch all of the Wind Task Force meetings in their entirety.

Over the past twenty years there has been extensive research evaluating public health and welfare
concerns of those living in proximity to wind turbines. This independent research by university
professors, consultants and government agencies has taken place in many different countries on
a variety of turbine models, which have been in communities for years.

The purpose of this report is to provide science-based factual information to support siting
guidelines that are protective of public health, understands community concerns and recognizes
the economic benefits and the desire for wind energy development. The focus of this review is on
non-participating homes and property. Although the science on appropriate sound levels to protect
against direct and indirect health impacts is well supported, it is acknowledged that issues
surrounding level of community annoyance is far more subjective. This is also addressed within the
paper.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

2 Considerations for Developing Science-Based Setback Regulations

There is no question that setting appropriate wind turbine siting guidelines for sound and distance
setback to homes is a complicated undertaking. As with any energy production project one needs
to balance community concerns with the need for the renewable energy and economic benefits,
while still ensuring the protection of public health and welfare of the local population.

Appropriate setback distances to dwellings go hand in hand with sound and shadow flicker
standards to ensure protection of public health and welfare (Figure 1). In addition, setbacks need
to account for public safety issues with respect to potential ice throw, blade failure, and tower
collapse. Public safety setback distances are often set both to non-participating property lines and
dwellings themselves.

Setback Considerations

\\\\ll/,

S
=7

///Il\\\\

///Il\\\

Sound ~105 dBA

Sound: 45 dBA Leq!.

Setback Distance to Dwelling?

Figure 1. Setback considerations for Siting of Wind Turbines

Over the past twenty years there has been extensive research evaluating public health, safety and
welfare concerns of those living in proximity to wind turbines. This independent research by
university professors, consultants and government agencies has taken place in many different
countries on a variety of turbine models, many of which have been in communities for years. It is
on the basis of this research that municipalities should set appropriate setbacks to dwelling. Caution
should be exercised to not establish excessive setbacks that afford no additional benefit or
protection of public health and safety.

The following sections will first describe guidelines for sound and shadow flicker are appropriate
for protection of public health. This is important to understand so that they can be used to establish
minimum setback distances to homes. Next discussion on setback requirements for ensuring
protection of public safety from physical issue will be explored. Finally, putting these two issues
together OEHM will describe recommended setbacks for Yankton County to residences.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission
May 13, 2024



3

OLLS®N

Health

Review of Health Research with Living in Proximity to Wind Turbines

An extensive review of the findings of the bulk of peer-reviewed scientific literature on living in
proximity to wind turbines is found in Appendix A. Readers are encouraged to consult the appendix
for any questions they have on health impacts and siting.

Wind turbine setbacks from homes should, at least in part, be based on the science of potential
health implications for those living in proximity. The most significant public health research on how
living near a wind energy project could impact health was published after 2015. The weight of public
health scientific evidence finds:

There is no association between wind turbine sound levels of up to 46 dBA at the exterior
of non-participating homes and impact on sleep.

There is no association between distance from wind turbine to homes and does not impact
sleep or other potential health impacts.

The level of low frequency noise or infrasound from wind turbines at non-participating
homes does not cause sleep disturbance or other health effects. The levels are typically
within background levels at homes and are well below levels that could induce health
impacts.

The results from the Health Canada study did not show any statistically significant increase
in the self-reported prevalence of chronic pain, asthma, arthritis, high blood pressure,
bronchitis, emphysema, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), diabetes, heart
disease, migraines/headaches, dizziness, or tinnitus in relation to WTN exposure up to 46
dB. In other words, individuals with these conditions were equally distributed among people
living at all sound levels and distances from <500 m to 11 km in the study area.

There will always be a percentage of people that self-report annoyance with having to live
near wind projects, regardless of whatever sound or setback distances are permitted. This
is a well-understood scientifically documented phenomenon. Levels of self-reported
annoyance are largely driven by one’s feelings towards how the turbines change the visual
nature of the landscape and their perception of the perceived fairness in the permitting
process for a project. The level of annoyance one feels towards the wind projects does not
impact one’s health. Therefore, it would be inappropriate to base wind turbine sound and
setback standards on people’s annoyance levels.

Public safety setbacks of 110% (or 1.1 times) tip height of a wind turbine to property lines
and roads ensure protection against ice throw, blade failure, and tower collapse.

Setbacks to residences should align with the setbacks required to achieve sound and
shadow flicker guidelines, while also ensuring the protection of public health.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 3
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

4 Sound and Shadow Flicker Guidelines in South Dakota

The first step in setting health-based guidelines for any infrastructure project is to understand its
emissions and how they could interact with people in the surrounding area. For wind turbines the
emissions of concern are sound and shadow flicker. The studies that justify appropriate standards
are later in this document. However, OEHM can attest that the previously approved SD PUC
requirements for sound and shadow flicker are indeed protective of public health.

411 South Dakota Sound Standards

In April 2020, the SD PUC issued its Final Decision and Order Granting Permit to Construct the

Crown Ridge Il Facility Permit Conditions. The decision requires the following condition be met for

sound:
The Crowned Ridge Wind Il Project (CRW Il), exclusive of all unrelated background noise except for that
associated with the pre-existing Crowned Ridge Wind | Project (CRW 1), shall not generate a sound pressure
level (10-minute equivalent continuous sound level, Leq) of more than 45 dBA as measured within 25 feet of any
nonparticipating residence unless the owner of the residence has signed a waiver, or more than 50 dBA (10-
minute equivalent continuous sound level, Leq) within 25 feet of any participating residence unless the owner of
the residence has signed a waiver. The Project owner shall, upon Commission formal request, conduct field
surveys and provide monitoring data verifying compliance with specified noise level limits. If the measured wind
turbine noise level exceeds a limit set forth above, then the Project owner shall act in accordance with prudent
operating practice to rectify the situation.

This standard aligns with the majority of counties within South Dakota with operating wind projects.

The existing Yankton County Zoning Ordinance, 2020 provides the following noise requirement:

Noise level shall not exceed 60 dB, including constructive interference effects, measured at the closest point on
the closest property line from the base of the system.

The Yankton County Wind Task Force has proposed the following standard:

Noise level shall not exceed 45 dB, including constructive interference effects, measured at the closest point on
the closest non-participating property line from the base of the system. The noise level shall not exceed 35 dB at
the nearest non-patrticipating residence.

OEHM acknowledges that the existing Yankton County Zoning Ordinance noise level is too high
and requires amendment. However, the Wind Task Force level is excessively low and should not
be adopted by the Planning Commission. It would effectively lead to a ban of wind projects in the
County. OEHM understands that in no way was this the intention of the Wind Task Force when
they were proposing sound limits.

Table 1 provides a list of the sound zoning ordinance requirements in Grant, Deuel and Codington
Counties, along with the existing Yankton County Ordinance. Table 2 provides a list of noise
requirements from a number of states. The most common sound standard across South Dakota
and the Midwestern states is typically 45 dBA at all participating and non-participating residences.
There are some jurisdictions that allow for a 50 dBA sound standard. It is rare to have a sound
standard at non-participating property lines. When this is the case, it is typically a 50 dBA standard
at the property line of existing off-site non-participating residences.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 4
May 13, 2024



Table 1. Noise/Sound standards in South Dakota Counties.

OLLS®N

Envir Health

Codington County
Ordinance #68

Deuel County

Section 1215.
Wind Energy
System (Wes)
Requirements.

Grant County

Section 1211. Wind Energy
System (Wes) Requirements

Yankton
County

Existing
Ordinance

Yankton Wind Task
Force

Recommendation

OEHM

Recommendation

Sound

Noise level shall not
exceed 50 dBA,
average A-weighted
Sound pressure

including constructive
interference effects at

the property line of
existing off-site non
participating
residences,
businesses, and
buildings owned
and/or maintained by

a governmental entity.

Noise level for non-
participating
residences shall
not exceed 45
DBA, average A-
Weighted Sound
pressure. The
noise level is to be
measured at the
perimeter of
existing non-
participating
residences.

Noise level shall not exceed
45 dBA, average A-weighted
Sound pressure including
constructive interference
effects measured twenty-five
(25) feet from at the perimeter
of the principal and accessory
structures of existing off-site
non-participating residences,
businesses, and buildings
owned and/or maintained by a
governmental entity.

Noise level shall not exceed
50 dBA, average A-weighted
Sound pressure including
constructive interference
effects measured twenty-five
(25) feet from the perimeter of
participating residences,
businesses, and buildings
owned and/or maintained by a
governmental entity.

Noise level
shall not
exceed 60 dB,
including
constructive
interference
effects,
measured at
the closest
point on the
closest
property line
from the base
of the system.

Noise level shall not
exceed 45 dB, including
constructive interference
effects, measured at the

closest point on the
closest non-participating

property line from the
base of the system. The
noise level shall not
exceed 35 dB at the
nearest non-participating
residence.

Noise level shall not exceed
45 dBA, average A-weighted
Sound pressure including
constructive interference
effects measured twenty-five
(25) feet from at the perimeter
of the principal and accessory
structures of existing off-site
non-participating residences,
businesses, and buildings
owned and/or maintained by
a governmental entity.

Noise level shall not exceed
50 dBA, average A-weighted
Sound pressure including
constructive interference
effects measured twenty-five
(25) feet from the perimeter of
participating residences,
businesses, and buildings
owned and/or maintained by a
governmental entity.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects

Yankton County Planning Commission

May 13, 2024




OLLS®N

Health

Table 2. State-level sound requirements

State Examples

North Dakota (State) Sound levels of wind turbines within one-hundred (100) feet of
any non-participating residence will not exceed 45 dBA (Leq).
Wisconsin (State) Section PSC 128.14 Noise Criteria (3)(a) Noise Limits. Except

as provided in par. (b), subs. (4) (c) and (5), an owner shall
operate the wind energy system so that the noise attributable
to the wind energy system does not exceed 50 dBA during
daytime hours and 45 dBA during nighttime hours

New York (State) A maximum noise limit of forty-five (45) dBA Leq (8-hour), at
the outside of any existing non-participating residence, and
fifty-five (55) dBA Leq (8-hour) at the outside of any existing
participating residence.

lllinois (State) A county may not set a sound limitation for wind towers in
commercial wind energy facilties or any components in
commercial solar energy facilities that is more restrictive than
the sound limitations established by the lllinois Pollution
Control Board under 25 Ill. Adm. Code Parts 900, 901, and
901.

This effective results in a 47 dBA sound level at the exterior of
non-participating homes.

Michigan (State) The wind energy facility does not generate a maximum sound
in excess of 55 average hourly decibels as modeled at the
nearest outer wall of the nearest dwelling located on an
adjacent nonparticipating property. Decibel modeling shall use
the A-weighted scale as designed by the American National
Standards Institute.

Nebraska (County) Typically 45 dBA to 50 dBA to non-participating residences
Kansas (County) Typically 45 dBA to 50 dBA to non-participating residences

There have been hundreds of sound model reports generated for the wind projects across North
America. Review of these reports shows that a minimum setback distance from wind turbines,
modeled with multiple turbines in a project, to achieve a 45 dBA sound level at a home typically
requires a setback distance of approximately 1,500 ft (Whitfield Aslund, 2013).

In recent years there have been a number of changes in wind turbine technology. Wind turbine
nameplate capacity in megawatts (MW) has been increasing. This has resulted in taller hub heights,
longer blades (rotor diameter) and overall height of the wind turbines. In addition, there has been
improvement in blade technology, where blades typically now have serrated edges to reduce sound
levels emitted from the turbines. The resulting sound power level (SPL) from these newer turbines
varies considerably across turbine type and manufacturer. In many instances the sound emitted
from the larger turbines is similar and, in many cases, lower than the smaller, older turbines.

Regardless of how tall the wind turbines are, or their SPL, it is still incumbent on the wind energy
project developers to ensure that the regulated sound level at homes is met. The SPL of the wind
turbine model to be used will directly affect how far it must be setback to meet permitted wind
turbine sound levels at homes. Therefore, sound levels and setback distances to homes must be
evaluated in tandem to ensure compliance with permit requirements. Setback distances from
homes should not be set at a distance that would be far in excess than those required to meet the
permitted sound level.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Once a project becomes operational it is possible to measure the sound levels at exterior of homes
to ensure compliance with permit conditions. This is commonly referred to as post-construction
sound monitoring. Field verification testing has demonstrated that proper modeling of sound in the
pre-construction permitting process ensures compliance once the wind turbines are operational. If
post-construction sound monitoring does reveal
compliance issues, the operator is required to
bring the offending turbine back within permitted
levels. This can be achieved through the noise
reduction modes (NRO) in turbines, but is not
desirable for the operators as it can affect power
output. Therefore, it is imperative that the pre-
construction sound modeling is conducted
correctly by trained professional acousticians.

OEHM Recommended Sound/Noise Ordinance

Noise level shall not exceed 45 dBA, average A-
weighted Sound pressure including constructive
interference effects measured twenty-five (25) feet
from at the perimeter of the principal and accessory
structures of existing off-site non-participating
residences, businesses, and buildings owned and/or
maintained by a governmental entity.

Noise level shall not exceed 50 dBA, average A-
weighted Sound pressure including constructive
interference effects measured twenty-five (25) feet
from the perimeter of participating residences,
businesses, and buildings owned and/or maintained
by a governmental entity.

OEHM cannot support the Yankton Wind Task
Force’s proposed amendments to the noise
standards. There is no jurisdiction with a 35 dBA
sound standard at the exterior of non-participating
residences where wind projects are in construction or operation. This is because the setback
distance to the home would be far in excess of 1 mile and would exclude the development of wind
energy in a county, this is equally true of a 45 dBA sound limit at all non-participating property lines.

Instead, the Planning Commission should consider adopting a commonly applied standard of 45
dBA 10-min Leq at non-participating homes that would align with other South Dakota counties and
the PUC requirements, and other Midwestern states. It is a level that ensures the protection of
sleep and health of residents.

4.1.2 Shadow Flicker

Shadow flicker occurs when interruption of sunlight by the wind turbine blades results in a change
in light intensity within a home or building. The flickering phenomenon does not occur unless one
is inside a building or structure with windows.

As demonstrated in Appendix A, shadow flicker
does not cause health impacts. Instead,
governments around the world have set what
they believe to be reasonable limits on the
amount of shadow flicker that non-participating
dwellings should experience.

OEHM Recommends Adopting the Wind Task Force
Shadow Flicker Standard

A Flicker Analysis shall include the duration and location of
flicker potential for all schools, churches, businesses and
dwellings within a two (2) mile radius of each turbine within
a project. The applicant shall provide a site map identifying
the locations of shadow flicker that may be caused by the

The intemationally developed shadow flicker project and the expected durations of the flicker at these

models are very accurate in predicting shadow
flicker at dwellings. Similar to the sound model,

locations from sun-rise to sun-set over the course of a year.
The analysis shall account for topography but not for
obstacles such as accessory structures and trees. Flicker

it is a cumulative effects model where the
location of each of the turbines in a project and
those within 1.5 miles of a neighboring project
are inputted along with the location of the
dwellings. Then based on a simple physics

at any reeepter residence shall not exceed thirty (30) hours
per year within the analysis area. A Shadow Flicker Control
System shall be installed upon all turbines which will cause
a shadow effect upon an occupied residential dwelling.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 7
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

model using the location of the sun throughout the year it generates the dates and times that
shadow flicker could occur at dwellings from all of the surrounding turbines.

As the height of turbines has increased, so has the distance from which shadow flicker can be cast
from the turbine to a dwelling. For those turbines greater than 500 ft to the total tip height it is
possible that you could have exceedances of the 30 hour a year of shadow flicker at a residence.
That said, there are curtailment measures that can be put in place to ensure that the turbines can
be stopped during any shadow flicker events that exceed the proposed ordinance.

OEHM believes that the Yankton Wind Task Force proposed change to the ordinance be adopted,
with the only change from ‘receptor’ to ‘residence’. It is aligned with other counties in South Dakota
and other Midwestern states (Table 3).

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 8
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Envir Health
Table 3. Shadow Flicker
Codington County Deuel County Grant County Yankton Yankton Wind Task Force | OEHM
. . . . . Existing Recommendation Recommendation
Ordinance #68 Section 1215. Wind | Section 1211. Wind Ordinance
Energy System (Wes) | Energy System (Wes)

Requirements.

Requirements

Shadow
Flicker

A Flicker Analysis
shall  include the
duration and location
of flicker potential for
all schools, churches,
businesses and
occupied  dwellings
within a one (1) mile
radius of each turbine
within a project. The
applicant shall provide
a site map identifying
the locations of
shadow flicker that
may be caused by the
project and the
expected durations of
the flicker at these
locations from sun-
rise to sun-set over
the course of a year.
The analysis shall
account for
topography but not for
obstacles such as
accessory structures
and trees. Flicker at
any receptor shall not
exceed thirty (30)
hours per year within
the analysis area.

Limit for allowable
shadow  flicker at
existing residences to
no more than 30 hours
annually.

A Flicker Analysis shall
include the duration and
location of flicker potential
for all schools, churches,
businesses and occupied
dwellings within a one (1)
mile radius of each turbine
within a project. The
applicant shall provide a
site map identifying the
locations of shadow flicker
that may be caused by the
project and the expected
durations of the flicker at
these locations from sun-
rise to sun-set over the
course of a year. The
analysis shall account for
topography but not for
obstacles such as
accessory structures and
trees. Flicker at any
receptor shall not exceed
thirty (30) hours per year
within the analysis area.

A Flicker Analysis shall include the
duration and location of flicker potential for
all schools, churches, businesses and
dwellings within a two (2) mile radius of
each turbine within a project. The applicant
shall provide a site map identifying the
locations of shadow flicker that may be
caused by the project and the expected
durations of the flicker at these locations
from sun-rise to sun-set over the course of
a year. The analysis shall account for
topography but not for obstacles such as
accessory structures and trees. Flicker at
any receptor shall not exceed thirty (30)
hours per year within the analysis area. A
Shadow Flicker Control System shall be
installed upon all turbines which will cause
a shadow effect upon an occupied
residential dwelling. Exception: The Board
of Adjustment may allow for a greater
amount of flicker than identified above if
the participating or non-participating
landowners agree to said amount of flicker.
If approved, such agreement shall be
permanently attached to the approved
conditional use permit and shall be filed as
a permanent encumbrance against the
legally described parcel(s) for which the
waiver is granted.

Use language
proposed by
Yankton  County

Wind Task Force
with the exception

of replacing
“receptor” with
“residence”

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects

Yankton County Planning Commission
May 13, 2024




OLLS®N

Health

5 Setback Guidelines in Other Jurisdictions

The SD PUC does not prescribe any setback to residences and differs to the local counties.
However, they have adopted as part of conditions to wind projects a setback to non-participating
property lines:
Wind turbines shall be set back at least 1.1 times the tip height, with a minimum set back distance of 500 feet,
from any surrounding property line. However, if the Project owner has a written agreement with an adjacent

landowner allowing the placement of the wind turbine closer to the property line, the wind turbine may be placed
closer to the property line shared with that adjacent landowner.

OEHM agrees that it is appropriate to divide setback distances between participating and non-
participating residences. It is also important to ensure that setback distances to non-participating
property lines, road ROWs, and utilities ensure protection against ice throw, blade failure and tower
collapse. It is also common practice to establish a reasonable setback to municipal boundaries that
allow for expanded growth of urban areas. In some jurisdictions setback distances to recreational
important lakes have also been established.

OEHM cannot support the majority of the Yankton Wind Task Force proposed setback distances.
In most instances they are excessive, do not afford any greater protection for public health and
safety and would result in the sterilization of Yankton County for the development of wind projects.
OEHM is not aware of any jurisdictions with such setbacks as recommended by the Wind Task
Force that have wind projects under construction or in operation. There are over 1,000 operating
wind turbines in South Dakota and none of the counties in which they operate have such restrictive
setback requirements.

Table 4 provides example setback distances to many features in several counties in South Dakota
that recently underwent ordinance revisions and have numerous operating wind projects. Table 5
provides state-level setbacks that have recently been legislated by these states. They are setbacks
that have been proven to ensure the protection of public health and safety and should be
considered for adoption by the Yankton County Planning Commission.

In many jurisdictions setbacks are a fixed distance to homes, whereas in others a multiplier on the
total turbine height is used to establish the setback distances.

In many cases the rationale for establishing the setbacks has not been provided in a manner easily
accessible by the public. However, Dr. Ollson of OEHM has been involved in the development of
many of these standards and can attest that the setbacks are typically based on the distance
needing to meet sound and shadow flicker requirements, protection of public safety and in some
cases with an additional buffer for community acceptance.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission
May 13, 2024

10



Table 4. Setback Distances South Dakota

OLLS®N

Envir Health

and Stream

mile from the Lake park District located at
Bullhead Lake.

Codington Deuel County Grant County Yankton Existing Ordinance Y_ankton
County . . Wind Task
Section 1215. Wind Energy System (Wes) Eﬁthog 152t1e1n.1V(Vv|\;1eds) R Force OEHM Recommendation
Ordinance #68 Requirements. ng 4 ecommen
equirements dation
550" olus 2.5' Distance from on-site or lessor’s
' plus 2.5' feet i ot icinati i residence shall be one thousand
Participating for each additional Dls_tance from eX'St”?g Pz_irt!(:lpatlng residences, (1,000) feet. 1.5 times 1,000 feet or 1.5x total height,
. . businesses and public buildings shall not be less 1,500 ft ’ . f -
Residences vertical foot more - total height whichever is greater
A : than fifteen hundred feet.
than 500’ in height
. ; Distance from existing off-site
N 1%50?f plus 2r-]5 o ; i N rt residences, business and public
on- eet for eac istance from existing Non-participating buildings shall be one thousand three .
Participating additional vertical residences and businesses shall not be less than 1,500 ft hundred and twenty feet (1,320) feet 2 miles 1,500 f_eet or 3?( total height,
. . ) ; X Yy , whichever is greater
Residences foot more than four times the height of the wind turbine.
500’ in height
Distance from any property line shall
5 be 500 feet or one point one (1.1)
Distance from any property line shall be one 500 Feet or 110% of times the height of the wind turbines
Non- 110% of the height | Nundred ten percent (110%) the height of the wind the vertical height of depending upon which is greater,
Participatin 0°f the wind 9 turbine, measured from the ground surface to the the wind turbine, measured from the ground surface to 2 miles 1.1 x (110%) total height of the
pating Y tip of the blade when in a fully vertical position whichever is greater the tip of the blade when in a fully turbine
Property Lines turbine . . )
unless wind easement has been obtained from vertical
adjoining property owner. position unless wind easement has
been obtained from adjoining property
owner.
Participating 1.5 times
property lines total height No setback
500 Feet or 110% of 500 feet or one point one (1.1) times
Public ROW and | 110% of the height one hundred ten percent (110%) the height of the the vertical height of the height of the wind turbines 1.5 times 1.1 x (110%) total height of the
Roads of the wind turbine wind turbines the wind turbine, depending upon which is greater total height turbine
whichever is greater
Distance from the municipalities of Altamont,
Astoria, Brandt and Goodwin of 1 mile from the
Municipal 5,280 feet (1 mile) nearest residenceand1’z miles from the city limits 5980 ft 2 miles 5,280 feet (1 mile)
Boundaries ’ of the towns of Gary, Toronto and Clear Lake, ’ i
except the area of Clear Lake located in sections
11, 12 and 14.
. 1.5 times 1.1 x (110%) total height of the
Utilities total height turbine
Distance from the Lake Park District located at
Lakes. Rivers Lake Cochrane: 3 miles; Distance from the Lake 1 mile from identified Lake Districts
’ Park District located at Lake Alice: 2 miles; and 1 1 Mile or valued recreational lakes, no

setbacks for rivers or streams

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission

May 13, 2024

11



OLLS®N

Health

Table 5. Typical North American Jurisdiction Wind Turbine Setbacks from Homes.

State Examples Minimum Setback for Wind Turbines from Residential Dwellings |
North Dakota (State) One and one-tenth times the height of the turbine from the property line of a
nonparticipating landowner and three times the height of the turbine from an
inhabited rural residence of a nonparticipating landowner, unless a variance
is granted.

Wisconsin (State
( ) The lessor of 1,250 feet or 3.1 times the maximum blade tip height to homes.

New York (State) Non-participating, non-residential Structures 1.5 times, non-participating
residences 2 times

lllinois (State) 1.1 times tip height to non-participating property lines, 2.1 times tip height to
non-participating receptors.

Michigan (State) 2.1 times from occupied community buildings and residences on

nonparticipating properties

1.1 times from non-patrticipating property lines

Nebraska (County) Varies county by county but most common between 1,000 ft to 1,500 ft
Kansas (County) Varies county by county but most common between 1,000 ft to 1,500

The typical setback distance in South Dakota to non-participating residences is 1,500 ft. This is
similar to what many counties have established across the United States, while some states have
adopted multipliers on turbine height
setback distances of 2 — 3x total [ERUAEICUIELECLELCE S

turbine height between lesEMll OEHM recommends that Yankton County Planning Commission
participating homes and wind turbines. [REESEAUEREEEYEERERUERCIRERCES

S There is no scientific basis to increase these setbacks. It would
In all cases these jurisdictions have " . ;

. ) afford no additional protection of public health and safety and
successfully hosted wind projects for RS unduly restrict areas for development. It would also be

(TR ORI oN LEIe=Le LM IR ER IR (W IR (a1 SIll  consistent, or greater than, other jurisdictions’ setback standards
are jurisdictions that have greater in South Dakota and across the United States.

setbacks. However, in most, if not all
instances these setbacks (>1,500 ft or 3 times tip height) were designed to exclude wind projects
from being built in their communities. These excessive setback distances afford no greater health
protection for resident’s health.

6 Consideration Cumulative Effects and Visual Aspect of Wind Turbines

Another issue in determining appropriate setbacks is the cumulative effect and visual impact of
projects on community members. Often the question becomes how many turbines in a community
are enough and how far should they be setback for impact on viewscape. There are two distinct
issues with respect to this topic. The first is the cumulative effect of the number of wind turbines on
public health from sound and shadow flicker. The second is the visual aspect of the turbines on the
horizon.

First, health impacts are assessed by the adherence to the sound and shadow flicker standards,
regardless of the number of turbines in an area. Each of the sound and shadow flicker standards
require an assessment of the cumulative effect of the individual project, as well as any adjacent
project within the area. That is because the largest zone of influence of sound from one turbine to
the next is within 1.5 miles and the same is true for shadow flicker. That means that cumulative
effects from all proposed and existing wind turbines are always accounted for.

In terms of the visual aspect of turbines on the horizon, beauty is truly in the eye of the beholder.
There are numerous studies that describe that approximately 10% of the population living in

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission
May 13, 2024

12



OLLS®N

Health

proximity to a wind turbine will be annoyed by their presence. However, given that wind turbines
do not impact property values, impact health or result
in other impacts on quality-of-life OEHM does not
believe that Counties should use visual cue as the

basis to increase setback distances to turbines. This [IEAECEUEECUEEEIECEAR TECIaRETTIEE
inherently include a cumulative effects

Implications of Cumulative Effects for
Yankton County Setback to Residences:

would effectively be a roundabout way of zoning out )

i i i assessment. There are numerous counties
wind turbines based on visual appearance. There are [ T R T
Counties across the United States that host hundreds  [RGEREVENLEIRTo =Tt W Elaga o 1g oIV = AR i1y
of wind turbines without impact on their communities.  [RASAUEUILEREECEUCEEECEES

In addition, setbacks to try and limit the impact of wind

turbines on the landscape are not effective, essentially if one can see a turbine on the horizon and
they do not want them, no setback distance will be effective in changing their mind. OEHM does
not support the use of the Wind Task Force proposed 2 mile setback to non-participating homes or
property lines.

7 Conclusion on Setting a Proper Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects

There is no question that setting appropriate wind turbine siting guidelines for sound and distance
setback to homes is a complicated undertaking. As with any energy production project one needs
to balance community concerns with the need for the renewable energy and economic benefits,
while still ensuring the protection of public health and welfare of the local population.

Wind energy projects bring clear socio-economic health benefits to host communities. These are
in the form of taxes, landowner payments, jobs, potential impact on healthcare costs and an offset
for the need for fossil fuel derived energy. These all have indirect health benefits at the individual
and community level. At the same time wind energy projects allow for continued use and enjoyment
of rural areas.

The Yankton County Wind Task Force proposed sound and setback amendments to the zoning
ordinance are far too restrictive, are not aligned with other counties or jurisdictions that host
operating turbines and afford no greater protection of public health and safety that other
jurisdictions. If the Planning Commission were to adopt these recommendations it would effectively
ensure that no wind projects could be built anywhere in Yankton County.

Based on totality of these findings OEHM believes that the following siting guidelines are protective
of public health, while providing a reasonable balance between community concerns and
achievable project siting constraints:

e Noise level shall not exceed 45 dBA, average A-weighted Sound pressure including
constructive interference effects measured twenty-five (25) feet from at the perimeter of
the principal and accessory structures of existing off-site non-participating residences,
businesses, and buildings owned and/or maintained by a governmental entity.

Noise level shall not exceed 50 dBA, average A-weighted Sound pressure including
constructive interference effects measured twenty-five (25) feet from the perimeter of
participating residences, businesses, and buildings owned and/or maintained by a
governmental entity.

e A Flicker Analysis shall include the duration and location of flicker potential for all schools,
churches, businesses and dwellings within a two (2) mile radius of each turbine within a

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 13
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

project. The applicant shall provide a site map identifying the locations of shadow flicker
that may be caused by the project and the expected durations of the flicker at these
locations from sun-rise to sun-set over the course of a year. The analysis shall account for
topography but not for obstacles such as accessory structures and trees. Flicker at any
receptor residence shall not exceed thirty (30) hours per year within the analysis area. A
Shadow Flicker Control System shall be installed upon all turbines which will cause a
shadow effect upon an occupied residential dwelling. Exception: The Board of Adjustment
may allow for a greater amount of flicker than identified above if the participating or non-
participating landowners agree to said amount of flicker. If approved, such agreement shall
be permanently attached to the approved conditional use permit and shall be filed as a
permanent encumbrance against the legally described parcel(s) for which the waiver is
granted. (This is similar language as proposed by the Wind Task Force).

¢ Infrasound and low frequency noise, although emitted from wind turbines, have been
demonstrated to be at level that is too low to be of health concern. Therefore, no additional
setback standard is required.

e Public safety setbacks of 110% (or 1.1 times) tip height of a wind turbine to non-
participating property lines, utilities and roads ensure protection against ice throw, blade
failure, and tower collapse. Further distances are not recommended and not required to
protect public safety. There is no need to published setback restrictions to participating
property lines.

e Setback to Municipal boundaries: 5,280 ft or 1 mile

e Setback to residences:
o Participating residences: 1,000 ft or 1.5x total height
o Non-Participating residences: 1,500 ft or 3x total height

These recommended siting guidelines are consistent with requirements of other South Dakota
Counties, many counties in Midwestern states, and in most State-level requirements across the
United States. OEHM urges the Yankton County Planning Commission not to adopt the
recommendations of the Wind Task Force, rather take additional time to study the issue and
recommend reasonable wind turbine siting guidelines that ensure the protection of public health
and safety of your residents.

OLLSON ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH MANAGEMENT

Cos——

Christopher Ollson, PhD

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 14
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

8 References

Bakker RH, Pedersen E, van den Berg GP, Stewart RE, Lok W, Bouma J. Impact of wind turbine
sound on annoyance, self-reported sleep disturbance and psychological distress. Sci Total Environ
(2012) 425:42-51.

Barry, R., Sulsky, S., Kreiger. N. 2018. Using residential proximity to wind turbines as an alternative
exposure measure to investigate the association between wind turbines and human health. The
Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 143, 3278

Berger R.G., Ashtiani P., Ollson C.A., Whitfield Aslund M., McCallum L.C., Leventhall G., Knopper
L.D. 2015. Health-based audible noise guidelines account for infrasound and low frequency noise
produced by Wind Turbines. Front Public Health. Vol 3, Art. 31

Feder K, Michaud DS, Keith SE, Voicescu SA, Marro L, Than J, Guay M, Denning A, Bower TJ,
Lavigne E, Whelan C, van den Berg F. 2015. An assessment of quality of life using the WHOQOL-
BREF among participants living in the vicinity of wind turbines. Environ Res. 2015 Oct;142:227-38.
doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2015.06.043. Epub 2015 Jul 11

Fidell, S and Mestre, V. 2020. A Guide to U.S. Aircraft Noise and Regulatory Policy. Springer. ISBN
978-3-030-39908-5

Fredianelli et al. 2019. A procedure for deriving wind turbine noise limits by taking into account
annoyance. Science of the Total Environment 648 (2019) 728-736

Freiberg et al. 2019 Health effects of wind turbines on humans in residential settings: Results of a
scoping review. Environmental Research 169 (2019) 446—463

Grimwood CJ, Skinner GJ, Raw GJ, BRE, Watford, WD25 9XX. The UK national noise attitude
survey 1999/2000. Noise Forum Conference, London, England (2002).

Haac, R.T., Kaliski, K., Landis, M., Hoen, B., Rand, J., Firestone, J., Elliott, D., Hibner, G., Pohl,
J. 2019 Wind turbine audibility and noise annoyance in a national U.S. survey: Individual perception
and influencing factors. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 146.

Health Canada. Wind Turbine Noise and Health. The Government of Canada. 2014. Available
online: http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ewh-semt/noise-bruit/turbine-eoliennes/summary-resume-eng.php

Hoen, B., Firestone, J., Rand, J., Elliot, D., Hibner, G., Pohl, J., Wiser, R., Lantz, E., Haac, R.,
Kaliski, K. 2019. Attitudes of U.S. Wind Turbine Neighbors: Analysis of a Nationwide Survey.
Energy Policy 134 (2019) 110981

Hubner G, Pohl J, Hoen B, Firestone J, Rand J, Elliott D, Haac R. 2019. Monitoring annoyance and
stress effects of wind turbines on nearby residents: A comparison of U.S. and European Samples
Environ Int. 2019 Nov;132:105090. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2019.105090. Epub 2019 Aug 19.

International Standards Organization (ISO). 2003. Technical Specification. ISO/TS 15666:2003(en)
Acoustics — Assessment of Noise annoyance by means of social and social acoustics survey.

Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. 2006. Sleep Disorders and Sleep Deprivation: An
Unmet Public Health Problem

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 15
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Jalali et al. 2016. Before—after field study of effects of wind turbine noise on polysomnographic
sleep parameters. Noise Health; 18:194-205.

Jakobsen J. Danish guidelines on environmental low frequency noise, infrasound and vibration. J
Low Freq Noise V A (2001) 20:141-8.

Janssen SA, Vos H, Pedersen E. A comparison between exposure-response relationships for wind
turbine annoyance and annoyance due to other noise sources. J Acoust Soc Am (2011) 130:3746-
53.

Kamigawara K, Yue J, Saito T, Hirano T. Publication of "Handbook to deal with low frequency noise
(2004)". J Low Freq Noise V A (2006) 25:153-6.

Keith SE, Feder K, Voicescu SA, Soukhovtsev V, Denning A, Tsang J, Broner N, Richarz W, van
den Berg F. 2016. Wind turbine sound power measurements. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 139 (3), 1431-
1435

Klaeboe & Sundfor (2016) Windmill Noise Annoyance, Visual Aesthetics, and Attitudes towards
Renewable Energy Sources Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2016, 13, 746

Knopper, L.D., Ollson, C.A., McCallum, L.C., Aslund, M.L., Berger, R.G, Souweine, K., and
McDaniel, M. 2014. Wind turbines and Human Health. Front. Public Health, Vol. 2, Art. 63

Laszlo HE, McRobie ES, Stansfeld SA, Hansell AL. Annoyance and other reaction measures to
changes in noise exposure - A review. Sci Total Environ (2012) 435:551-562.

Liebich et al. 2020. A systematic review and meta-analysis of wind turbine noise effects on sleep
using validated objective and subjective sleep assessments. Journal of Sleep Research.

McCunney, R.J., Mundt, K.A., Colby, D., Dobie, R., Kaliski, K., Blais, M. 2014. Wind Turbines and
Health A Critical Review of the Scientific Literature. JOEM Volume 56, Number 11

Michaud DS, Feder K, Keith SE, Voicescu SA, Marro L, Than J, Guay M, Denning A, Murray BJ,
Weiss SK, Villeneuve PJ, van den Berg F, Bower T. 2016. Effects of Wind Turbine Noise on Self-
Reported and Objective Measures of Sleep. Sleep. 2016 Jan 1;39(1):97-109

Michaud DS, Feder K, Keith SE, Voicescu SA, Marro L, Than J, Guay M, Denning A, McGuire D,
Bower T, Lavigne E, Murray BJ, Weiss SK, van den Berg F. 2016a. Exposure to wind turbine noise:
Perceptual responses and reported health effects. J Acoust Soc Am. 2016 Mar;139(3):1443-54.

Michaud DS, Keith SE, Feder K, Voicescu SA, Marro L, Than J, Guay M, Bower T, Denning A,
Lavigne E, Whelan C, Janssen SA, Leroux T, van den Berg F. 2016b. Personal and situational

variables associated with wind turbine noise annoyance. J Acoust Soc Am. 2016 Mar;139(3):1455-
66.

Michaud DS, Feder K, Keith SE, Voicescu SA, Marro L, Than J, Guay M, Denning A, Bower T,
Villeneuve PJ, Russell E, Koren G, van den Berg F. 2016c. Self-reported and measured stress
related responses associated with exposure to wind turbine noise. J Acoust Soc Am. 2016
Mar;139(3):1467-79.

Michaud DS, Keith SE, McMurchy D. 2005. Noise annoyance in Canada. Noise Health 7:39-47.

Michaud, DS., Guay, M., Marro, L., Than, J. 2018 Response to: “Using residential proximity to wind
turbines as an alternative exposure measure to investigate the association between wind turbines

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 16
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

and human health,” by Barry, Sulsky, Kreiger (2018) The Journal of the Acoustical Society of
America. 144, 330

Ministry for the Environment, Climate and Energy of the Federal State of Bade Wuerttemberg
Germany. 2016. Low-frequency noise including infrasound from wind turbines and other sources

Pedersen E, Persson Waye K. Perception and annoyance due to wind turbine noise — a dose—
response relationship. J Acoust Soc Am (2004) 116:3460-70.

Pedersen E. Health aspects associated with wind turbine noise-Results from three field studies.
Noise Control Eng J (2011) 59:47-53.

Pedersen E, Persson Waye K. Perception and annoyance due to wind turbine noise — a dose—
response relationship. J Acoust Soc Am (2004) 116:3460-70.

Pedersen E, Persson Waye K. Wind turbine noise, annoyance and self-reported health and well-
being in different living environments. Occup Environ Med (2007) 64:480-6.

Pohl et al. 2018. Understanding stress effects of wind turbine noise — The integrated approach
Energy Policy 112 (2018) 119-128

Smith, MG., Ogren, M., Thorsson, P., Hussain-Alkhateeb, L., Pedersen, E., Forssen, J., Ageborg
Morsing, J., Persson Waye, K. 2020. A laboratory study on the effects of wind turbine noise on
sleep: results of the polysomnographic WiTNES study. SLEEPJ, 2020, 1-14

Turnbull C, Turner J, Walsh D. 2012. Measurement and level of infrasound from wind farms and
other sources. Acoust Aust 40:45-50.

U.S. EPA. 2019. Public Health Benefits per kWh of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy in
the United States: A Technical Report

Verheijen, E., Jabben, J., Schreurs, E., Smith, K.B., (2011). Impact of wind turbine noise in The
Netherlands. Noise Health 13(55), 459-63.

WHO 1948. Preamble to the Constitution of the World Health Organization as adopted by the
International Health Conference, New York, 19-22 June, 1946; signed on 22 July 1946 by the
representatives of 61 States (Official Records of the World Health Organization, no. 2, p. 100) and
entered into force on 7 April 1948

World Health Organization (WHO). 1999. Berglund B, Lindvall T. (Eds.) Community Noise. Center
for Sensory Research, Stockholm University and Karolinska Institute

World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe. 2009. Night noise guidelines for
Europe. Copenhagen (Denmark): World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; p. i-xviii;
1-162.

World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe. 2018. Environmental Noise
Guidelines for the European Region

World Health Organization (WHO). 2019. Health Impact Assessment. https://www.who.int/hia/en/

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 17
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Appendix A

Review of Health Implications for Living Around Wind Turbines as the
Relate to Setbacks to Residences

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 18
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

9 Health Research Supporting the Proper Siting of Wind Turbines

Wind-based energy production has been identified as a clean and renewable resource that does
not produce any known emissions or harmful wastes. As a result, wind power has become one of
the fastest growing sources of new electric power generation, with several countries achieving high
levels of wind power capacity.

Over 150 studies have been published worldwide to examine the relationship between wind
turbines and possible human health effects. Based on the findings and scientific merit of these
studies, lead health and medical authorities have stated that when sited properly (i.e., based on
distance and/or noise guidelines and setbacks), wind turbines are not causally related to adverse
effects.

Appropriate science-based setbacks and sound limits are required to ensure the protection of
public health and safety. One needs to ensure these protections for issues on:

e Sound (audible noise)

¢ Low frequency noise and infrasound
e Shadow Flicker

e Setback Distances — public safety

The focus of this review is on the non-participating residences.

9.1 Sound (Noise): Audible, Low Frequency and Infrasound

Perhaps one of greatest areas of research on proper siting of wind turbine to avoid health issues
is in relation to wind turbine sound and setback distances to homes. The past decade has seen
numerous independent research efforts undertaken in the U.S., Canada, Europe and Australia.

In 2014, Health Canada released the findings of their Wind Turbine Noise (WTN) and Health Study.
This is most comprehensive study of its kind to date and its results will be referenced a number of
times in this report. The following provides a high-level overview of the study design. This study
was initiated in 2012 and was a partnership between Health Canada and Statistics Canada to
understand the potential impacts of wind turbine noise on health and wellbeing of communities in
Southern Ontario and Prince Edward Island (PEI). A total of 1238 households participated in the
study, with an almost 80% response rate of all households within 6 miles (10 km) of projects
investigated, making it the largest and most comprehensive study ever undertaken around the
world.

Households were located between 820 ft (250 m) and 6 mi (10 km) from operational wind turbines.
The A-weighted (dBA) sound levels (audible sound/noise) were grouped into 5 dBA increments
with the loudest level in the study at the exterior of a home being 46 dBA Leq (highest nighttime
level). These levels are lower than the typical Western state standards of 50 dBA at the exterior of
homes.

In 2014, Health Canada released a Summary of their findings on their website (Health Canada,
2014).

http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ewh-semt/noise-bruit/turbine-eoliennes/summary-resume-
eng.php

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 19
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Health Canada’s public brochure contains the following statement:

“The Wind Turbine Noise and Health Study is a landmark study and the most
comprehensive of its kind. Both the methodology used and the results are significant
contributions to the global knowledge base and examples of innovative, leading edge
research.”

| note that Health Canada has provided the following limitations to their study results (Health
Canada, 2014):

As with other studies of this nature, a number of limitations and considerations apply to the
study findings including:

e results may not be generalized to areas beyond the sample as the wind turbine
locations in this study were not randomly selected from all possible sites
operating in Canada;

e results do not permit any conclusions about causality; and,

e results should be considered in the context of all published peer-reviewed
literature on the subject.

It is with these limitations in mind, that | have provided my interpretation of the significance of the
results in relation to setting of appropriate sound and setback standards.

Since 2015, Health Canada has published numerous peer-reviewed scientific publications with
their results. This research will be discussed as appropriate throughout this report and is often
referred to the “Michaud” work as Dr. David Michaud was typically the first author on these papers.

9.1.1 Audible Sound

With any sound source sleep is the critical health endpoint that needs to be protected at residences.
However, there are a number of other concerns that have been raised with living in proximity to
wind turbines. The past decade of rapid increase in wind power development in North America has
been coupled with some who believe that wind turbines should be set miles back from residences,
or else it will result in public health impacts. However, the weight of scientific evidence does not
hold this to be true. The following section provides an overview of the most up to date, peer-
reviewed published, evidence to understand how the proper operation of a wind turbine project
should not interfere with sleep.

9.1.1.1 Sleep

The critical effect from a health perspective in setting any nighttime sound source standard is to
ensure that it is protective of sleep. Quality of sleep and sleep perception can be challenging to
establish causation through self-reported surveys alone.

In 2006, the Institute of Medicine of the National Academies released the book “Sleep Disorders
and Sleep Deprivation: An Unmet Public Health Problem” (IOM, 2006). At that time they reported
that: “It is estimated that 50 to 70 million Americans suffer from a chronic disorder of sleep and
wakefulness, hindering daily functioning and adversely affecting health.” In 2006 the population of
the United States was 298 million, resulting in an approximately 23% of Americans with sleep

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 20
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

disorders. This needs to be considered within any review of the sleep literature with respect to wind
turbines in the American context.

The following provides an overview of a number of wind turbine specific sleep studies in relation to
nighttime noise levels at exterior of homes.

Michaud et al., 2016. Effects of Wind Turbine Noise on Self-Reported and Objective Measures of
Sleep. Sleep, Vol. 39, No. 1 (Health Canada)

The journal Sleep is a highly respected scientific publication in this area of research. This is
reflected in its five-year Impact Factor score of 5.8. The paper presents the peer-reviewed
published findings of the Health Canada study (2014) of wind turbine noise on sleep. The sample
size was the entire 1,238 participants from the overall study for self-reported sleep quality over the
30 days using the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) and additional questions assessing the
prevalence of diagnosed sleep disorders and the magnitude of sleep disturbance over the previous
year. For the first time, objective measures for sleep latency, sleep efficiency, total sleep time, rate
of awakening bouts, and wake duration after sleep were recorded using the wrist worn Actiwatch2®
for 654 participants, over a total of 3,772 sleep nights. It is the largest and most comprehensive of
its kind ever undertaken for wind turbine noise.

The following excerpt from the paper discusses the study objective:

“The current study was designed to objectively measure sleep in relation to WTN exposure
using actigraphy, which has emerged as a widely accepted tool for tracking sleep and wake
behavior. The objective measures of sleep, when considered together with self-report,
provide a more comprehensive evaluation of the potential effect that WTN may have on
sleep.”

The importance of this study is that for the first time self-reported sleep concerns, Pittsburgh Sleep
Quality Index (PSQI — a self-report questionnaire on sleep activity) results and objective measures
of sleep using actigraphy were investigated for wind turbine noise.

“Table 2 presents the summary statistics for PSQI as both a continuous scale and a binary
scale (the proportion of respondents with poor sleep; i.e., PSQI above 5) by WTN exposure
categories. Analysis of variance was used to compare the average PSQI score across
WTN exposure groups (after adjusting for provinces). There was no statistical difference
observed in the mean PSQI scores between groups (P = 0.7497) as well as no significant
difference between provinces (P = 0.7871) (data not shown). Similarly, when modeling the
proportion of respondents with poor sleep (PSQI > 5) in the logistic regression model, no
statistical differences between WTN exposure groups (P = 0.4740) or provinces (P =
0.6997) were observed (see supplemental material).”

Table 6 is an excerpt from Michaud et al. (2016; their Table 1), provides an overview of the self-
reported sleep magnitude and contribution of disturbance. It was reported that there was no
statistical difference in self-reported sleep disturbance for participants living with exterior to home
sound levels from <25 dBA to 40-46 dBA. They reported:

“The prevalence of reported sleep disturbance was unrelated to wind turbine noise levels.”

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 21
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Envir Health

Table 6. Self-reported magnitude and contributing sources of sleep disturbance.

Table 1—Self-reported magnitude and contributing sources of sleep disturbance.

Wind Turbine Noise, dB(A) CMH
Variable <25 25-30 30-35 35-40 40-46 Overall P value®
n 83 95 304 519 234 1,235
Self-reported sleep disturbance n (%)
Not at all 29 (34.9) 44 (46.3) 112 (36.8) 208 (40.1) 85(36.3) 478 (38.7)
At least slightly® 54 (65.1) 51(53.7) 192 (63.2) 311 (59.9) 149 (63.7) 757 (61.3) 0.7535
Highly® 13(15.7) 11 (11.6) 41(13.5) 75(14.5) 24 (10.3) 164 (13.3) 0.4300
Source of sleep disturbance (among participants at least slightly sleep disturbed) n (%)
n¢ 53 51 186 298 138 726
Wind turbine 0(0.0) 2(39) 4(22) 45 (15.1) 31(225) 82(11.3) <0.0001
Children 9(17.0) 12(235) 21(11.3) 36 (12.1) 20 (14.5) 98 (13.5) 0.2965
Pets 7(13.2) 12(235) 9(4.8) 45(15.1) 22 (15.9) 95 (13.1) 0.3582
Neighbors 6(11.3) 5(9.8) 9(4.8) 13(44) 5(3.6) 38(5.2) 0.0169
Other 41(774) 35 (68.6) 162 (87.1) 232(77.9) 87 (63.0) 557 (76.7) 0.0128
Stress/anxiety 6(11.3) 2(39) 21 (11.3) 33(11.1) 11(8.0) 73(10.1) 0.8938
Physical pain 11(20.8) 9(17.6) 50(26.9) 48 (16.1) 18 (13.0) 136 (18.7) 0.0289
Snoring 5(9.4) 6(11.8) 17 (9.1) 20 (6.7) 12(8.7) 60 (8.3) 0.4126

Participants were asked to report their magnitude of sleep disturbance over the last year while at home by selecting one of the following five categories: not
at all, slightly, moderately, very, or extremely. Participants that indicated at least a slight magnitude of sleep disturbance were asked to identify all sources
perceived to be contributing to sleep disturbance. *The Cochran Mantel-Haenszel chi-square test was used to adjust for provinces. *At least slightly sleep
disturbed includes participants indicating the slightly, moderately, very or extremely categories. °Highly sleep disturbed includes participants who reported
the very or extremely categories. The prevalence of reported sleep disturbance was unrelated to wind turbine noise levels. *Of the 757 participants who
reported at least a slight amount of sleep disturbance, 31 did not know what contributed to their sleep disturbance. Of the remaining 726, at least one source
was identified. Columns may not add to sample size totals as some participants did not answer questions and/or identified more than one source as the
cause of their sleep disturbance

From the conclusions of the paper:

“The potential association between WTN levels and sleep quality was assessed over the
previous 30 days using the PSQI, the previous year using percentage highly sleep
disturbed, together with an assessment of diagnosed sleep disorders. These self-reported
measures were considered in addition to several objective measures including total sleep
time, sleep onset latency, awakenings, and sleep efficiency. In all cases, in the final
analysis there was no consistent pattern observed between any of the self-reported or
actigraphy-measured endpoints and WTN levels up to 46 dB(A) [820 ft]. Given the lack of
an association between WTN levels and sleep, it should be considered that the study
design may not have been sensitive enough to reveal effects on sleep. However, in the
current study it was demonstrated that the factors that influence sleep quality (e.g. age,
body mass index, caffeine, health conditions) were related to one or more self-reported
and objective measures of sleep. This demonstrated sensitivity, together with the
observation that there was consistency between multiple measures of self-reported sleep
disturbance and among some of the self-reported and actigraphy measures, lends strength
to the robustness of the conclusion that WTN levels up to 46 dB(A) [820 ft] had no
statistically significant effect on any measure of sleep quality.

The findings of Michaud et al., (2016) supports the position that residents living with exterior
nighttime sound levels of <46 dBA at the exterior of homes should not experience sleep disturbance
from the wind turbine sound.

The Health Canada findings are consistent with credible previously published peer-reviewed
literature in the field.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 22
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Bakker et al. 2012. Impact of wind turbine sound on annoyance, self-reported sleep disturbance
and psychological distress. Science of The Total Environment, Volume 425, 15 May 2012, Pages
42-51

Bakker et al., (2012) completed the most compelling research, prior to the Health Canada Study
(2014), into wind sound awakenings. This research reported the number or percentage of
awakenings with those living in proximity to wind turbines in a rural setting. As can be seen in Table
7 (Table 7 from the Bakker paper), more people in rural environments are awakened by
people/animal sound and traffic/mechanical sounds, than by the proximate wind turbines. In this
study, people living in close proximity to wind turbines reported being awoken more by
people/animal noise (11.7%) and rural traffic/mechanical noise (12.5%), than by turbine noise
(6.0%). Sound levels in this study were as high as 54 dBA from wind turbines at the exterior of
neighboring homes.

Table 7. Sound sources of sleep disturbance in rural and urban area types, only respondents
who did not benefit economically from wind turbines (Bakker et al, 201)

Table 7
Sound sources of sleep disturbance in rural and urban area types, only respondents
who did not benefit economically from wind turbines.

Sound source of sleep disturbance Rural Urban Total

n % n % n %
Not disturbed 196 698 288 649 484 66.8
Disturbed by people/ animals 33 117 64 144 97 134
Disturbed by traffic/ mechanical sounds 35 125 75 169 110 15.2
Disturbed by wind turbines 17 60 17 38 34 4.7
Total 281 100 444 100 725 100

From the Health Canada sleep study (Michaud et al., 2016):

“Study results concur with those of Bakker et al. (2002), with outdoor WTN levels up to 54
dB(A), wherein it was concluded that there was no association between the levels of WTN
and sleep disturbance when noise annoyance was taken into account”.

Jalali et al. 2016. Before—after field study of effects of wind turbine noise on polysomnographic
sleep parameters. Noise Health; 18:194-205.

The first study to be published on before-after operation effect of wind turbine noise on objectively
measured sleep was conducted in 16 participants living within 1.25 mi (2 km) to a five-wind turbine
project in Ontario, Canada. It should be noted that outdoor sound measurements ranged between
40 — 45 dBA before operation and 38-42 dBA after the turbines became operational. The average
indoor sound level in the bedrooms was reported as 31 dBA while the wind turbines were
operational. For the first time authors used portable polysomnography (PSG), which is a
comprehensive system that objectively monitors people’s sleep in their homes.

Although there are concerns about the small sample size and that exterior sound levels were higher
pre-operation of wind turbines, the authors concluded:

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 23
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

“The result of this study based on advanced sleep recording methodology together with
extensive noise measurements in an ecologically valid setting cautiously suggests that
there are no major changes in the sleep of participants who host new industrial WTs in
their community.”

These findings are consistent with the previous reported studies.

Smith et al. 2020. A laboratory study on the effects of wind turbine noise on sleep: results of the
polysomnographic WiTNES study. SLEEPJ, 2020, 1-14

This Swedish study was the first of its kind to be conducted in a sleep laboratory setting. A total of
50 participants were recruited for the study. Twenty-four “Exposed” participants were selected from
a group who lived within 1 km of a wind turbine and self-reported annoyance or sleep disturbance
at their homes. There were 26 participants in the “Reference” group that did not live close to wind
turbines.

Each of the group’s physiologic and self-reported sleep effects was analyzed using
polysomnography, electrocardiography, salivary cortisol and questionnaire endpoints. Their sleep
was monitored over three consecutive nights (23:00 to 7:00): habituation night, quiet control night,
and wind turbine noise night that simulated a 32 dBA Leq wind turbine sound in homes. Although
this study does have some merit the results should be viewed with caution. It involved only a single
night exposure to wind turbine noise in a laboratory setting, there may have been self selection
bias with those living in proximity to wind turbines and the results could at best be used to establish
in home future studies.

The researchers reported:

Physiologic effects of WTN were not found for the majority of sleep measures, which
implies that nocturnal WTN may not be of major public health relevance. On the other hand,
the self-reported data give indications of poorer sleep quality and restoration, which may
contribute to a risk for long-term health effects in ways not captured by PSG.

However, the researchers also reported:

The Exposed study group gave a more negative rating of sleep quality, tiredness, and
sleeping worse than usual compared to the Reference group in both the Control and WTN-
night. They also reported higher noise-induced sleep disturbance overall, in both the
Control and WTN-night compared to the Reference group.

When reviewed in context to the sleep studies that were actually completed inside homes of those
living in proximity to wind turbines (Michaud et al.,2016 and Jalali et al., 2016) the Smith et al.
(2020) study is consistent in that physiological are unlikely of major public health relevance. The
self-reported sleep results in such a small number of participants is not consistent with the field
studies involving many more participants.

Liebich et al. 2020. A systematic review and meta-analysis of wind turbine noise effects on sleep
using validated objective and subjective sleep assessments. Journal of Sleep Research

Recently, researchers in Australia undertook a systematic review and meta-analysis of the
published literature of how wind turbine noise may impact both objective and subjective sleep
outcomes.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 24
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

They retained nine studies for review, with five of them containing sufficient data that could be used
in the meta-analysis of sleep outcomes. The systematic review includes the three publications
already reviewed above in the OEHM report. They found:

The meta-analysis of five studies found no evidence to support that objectively measured
sleep latency, sleep efficiency, time spent asleep and awake during the night are
significantly different in the presence versus absence of WTN exposure.

They could not conduct a meta-analysis on the self-reported sleep outcomes because the
measurement outcomes were not consistent enough between studies. They concluded:

This systematic review and meta-analysis suggests that WTN does not significantly impact
key indicators of objective sleep. Cautious interpretation remains warranted given variable
measurement methodologies, WTN interventions, limited sample sizes, and cross-
sectional study designs, where cause and- effect relationships are uncertain. Well-
controlled experimental studies using ecologically valid WTN, objective and
psychometrically validated sleep assessments are needed to provide conclusive evidence
regarding WTN impacts on sleep.

The authors also opined that:

Field studies are clearly the most ecologically valid and most representative of real-world
WTN conditions in comparison to in-laboratory studies.

To date, this is the most comprehensive review of wind turbine sound exposure and sleep. It is
acknowledged that the authors did suggest that further in home studies are needed to provide
“conclusive evidence”. This additional research is currently underway in Australia.

Michaud et al., 2021. Sleep actigraphy time-synchronized with wind turbine output. SLEEPJ, 2021,
1-12. (Health Canada)

In March of 2021, the Health Canada team published their findings on a re-evaluation of their
original collection of sleep data for those living around wind turbines. They further refined the data
evaluation of the sleep actigraphy data to 10-minute intervals and time synchronized it to wind
turbine supervisory control and data acquisition. Overall, they concluded:

Maximum calculated nightly average wind turbine SPL reached 44.7 dBA (mean = 32.9,
SD = 6.4) outdoors and 31.4 dBA (mean = 12.5, SD = 8.3) indoors. Wind turbine SPL in
10 min intervals, and nightly averages, was not statistically associated with actigraphy
outcomes. However, the variability in wind turbine SPL due to changes in wind turbine
operation across the sleep period time, as measured by the difference between the 10 min
SPL and the nightly average SPL (ASPL), was statistically related to awakenings (p =
0.028) and moitility (p = 0.015) rates. These diminutive differences translate to less than 1
min of additional awake and moltility time for a 5 dBA increase over a 450 min sleep period
time. Overall results showed that wind turbine SPL below 45 dBA was not associated with
any consequential changes in actigraphy-measured sleep. Observations based on ASPL
provided some indication that a more sensitive assessment of sleep may be one that
considers variations in wind turbine SPL throughout the sleep period time.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 25
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

The findings of the recent Health Canada research on sleep and wind turbine noise are consistent
with their previous findings and the meta-analysis of sleep outcomes provided by Liebich et al.
(2020).

Liebich et al. 2022. The effect of wind turbine noise on polysomnographically measured and self-
report sleep latency in wind turbine noise naive participants. SLEEPJ. Vol 45. No. 1. pg 1-11.

The objective of the study was to assess the impact of wind turbine noise (WTN) on
polysomographically measured and diary-determined self-reported sleep latency compared to a
controlled background in a laboratory sleep chamber. There were 23 urban participants that were
naive (never heard before) to wind turbine sound. They were exposed to 33 dBA of interior bedroom
previously recorded wind turbine sound. This mimics the expected sound level of a home that would
have windows open and an exterior wind turbine sound level of 40 dBA or greater. They concluded:

“WTN effects on objective and subjective sleep latency were assessed via a two-night
sleep study in a controlled sleep laboratory setting using polysomnography and sleep diary
measures in a sample of health sleeps not typically exposed to WTN. No differences were
found in objective or subjective sleep latency when WTN at 33 dB(A) was presented during
the sleep onset period compared to control background noise at 23 dB(A). Furthermore,
no differences were found in latency to N2 sleep, nor in the proportion of individuals who
took >20 or >30 min to fall asleep in the presence versus absence of WTN.”

Liebich et al. 2022a. An experimental investigation on the impact of wind turbine noise on
polysomnography-measured and sleep diary-determined sleep outcomes. SLEEPJ. Vol 45. No. 8.

pg. 1-16.

In this study the authors expanded the group of participants to 68 that included residents living
close to turbines that previously reported sleep disruption, residents who report traffic sleep
disruption and two control grounds. The groups participated in a four-night laboratory sleep study
in which control background noise was 19 dBA and interior bedroom previously recorded WTN of
25 dBA. This level of sound was to reproduce the expected sound levels inside an Australian home
with windows open and a 40 dBA sound level at the exterior of the home.

Overall, these results do not support that acute WTN exposures approximating median
WTN exposure levels around 3 km from a windfarm, measurably impact sleep assessed
using conventional sleep scoring metrics, including in individuals with self-reported sleep
difficulties attributed to WTN living at a similar distance. However, further studies remain
warranted to test for effects of higher WTN exposure levels on traditional sleep
macrostructure outcomes, subtle microstructural sleep parameters, and impacts on
nextday mood, anxiety, and performance.

No individual study can answer all of questions about wind turbine noise and sleep. These studies
were well executed, used sound scientific methodological approaches, and provided full details of
their potential limitations. Overall, both Australian sleep studies and the recent Health Canada study
are aligned with the previous international findings on wind turbine noise and sleep. This suggests
that the continued use the 45 dBA sound limit commonly used in South Dakota is appropriate for
ensuring the protection of sleep.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 26
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Conclusion on Wind Turbine Noise and Sleep

The recent published findings reveal that there is no association between exterior wind turbine
sound levels of up to 46 dBA and impact on sleep. The link between reported sound levels,
annoyance and sleep disturbance does not appear to hold. In other words, regards of the reported
wind turbine sound levels or annoyance levels, sleep outcomes are not different for people living
with up to 46 dBA at their home to those with 30 dBA at their homes.

9.1.2 Low Frequency Noise and Infrasound

Infrasound is a term used to describe sounds that are produced at frequencies too low to be heard
by the human ear at frequencies of 0 to 20 Hz, at common everyday levels. It is typically measured
and reported on the G-weighted scale (dBG). Low frequency noise (LFN), at frequencies between
20 to 200 Hz, can be audible. It is typically measured and reported on the C-weighted scale (dBC)
to account for higher-level measurements and peak sound pressure levels.

Universally wind turbine sound standard are set using audible dBA levels, as they are in South
Dakota, and approved based on modeling. Over the past couple of years there have been a limited
number of researchers that have speculated that wind turbine infrasound and LFN could be the
potential cause of potential health impacts or sleep disturbance. The mere presence of measured
LFN and infrasound does not indicate a potential threat to health or an inability for people to sleep.
The fact that one can measure infrasound and LFN from wind turbines at either the exterior or
interior of a home does mean that it is at a level that poses a potential health threat. In addition,
just because there may be a distinct acoustical signature that allows sound engineers to distinguish
between low levels of infrasound or LFN from turbines does not mean that it results in health
impacts.

Although wind turbines are a source of LFN and infrasound during operation, these sound pressure
levels are not unique to wind turbines. Common natural sources of LFN and infrasound include
ocean waves, thunder, and even the wind itself. Anthropogenic sources include road traffic,
refrigerators, air conditioners, machinery, and airplanes.

Given the growing attention being paid to this issue several recent studies have been published.

Berger et al.. 2015. Health-based Audible Noise Guidelines Account for Infrasound and Low
Frequency Noise Produced by Wind Turbines’ in the journal Frontiers in Public Health Vol 3, Art.
31

The purpose of this paper was to investigate whether typical audible noise-based guidelines for
wind turbines account for the protection of human health given the levels of infrasound and LFN
typically produced by wind turbines. New field measurements of indoor infrasound and outdoor
LFN at locations between 1,312 ft (400 m) and 2,952 (900 m) from the nearest turbine, which were
previously underrepresented in the scientific literature, were reported and put into context with
existing published works. The analysis showed that indoor infrasound levels were below auditory
threshold levels while LFN levels at generally accepted setback distances were similar to
background LFN levels.

The paper discusses two guidelines for exposure to infrasound (dBG), although neither is specific

to wind turbine noise. The Queensland Department of Environment and Resource Management’s
Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 27
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Draft ECOACCESS Guideline- Assessment of Low Frequency Noise proposed an interior
infrasound limit of 85 dBG (Roberts, 2004). This value was derived based on a 10 dB protection
level from the average 95 dBG hearing threshold (Watanabe, 1990) and previous Danish
recommendations for infrasound limits (Jakobsen, 2001). The Japanese Handbook on Low
Frequency Noise provides an infrasound reference value of 92 dBG at 10 Hz and 1/3 octave bands
up to 80 Hz (Kamigawara, 2006). These values were derived from investigations that monitored
complaints of mental and physical discomfort from healthy adults exposed to low frequency sounds
in a room (Kamigawara, 2006).

These guidelines for infrasound would not be reached in homes situated near the Crazy Mountain
Wind Power Project. Quite simply, the homes are located too far back from the turbines based on
audible sound criteria to have the accompanying infrasound levels exceed these guidelines. In fact,
these levels of infrasound are not reached even in close proximity to the wind turbines themselves.

Collective, these data in conjunction with previous reports indicate that levels of infrasound and
LFN are not sufficient to induce adverse health effects; therefore health-based audible noise
guidelines are suitable for the protection of human health.

From the abstract of Berger et al., 2015:

Over-all, the available data from this and other studies suggest that health-based audible
noise wind turbine siting guidelines provide an effective means to evaluate, monitor, and
protect potential receptors from audible noise as well as Infrasound and Low Frequency
Noise.

Simply put, nighttime sound level on the A-weighted scale, and the setback to homes, act as a
surrogates to ensure that levels of LFN and infrasound will not impact health or sleep.

In 2012, Turnbull et al. published a peer-reviewed paper titted Measurement and Level of
Infrasound from Wind Farms and Other Sources to put this issue into context with other LFN and
infrasound sources (Turnbull et al., 2012). The study was conducted in Australia around wind
turbines and other common sources of infrasound and included the Clements Gap Wind Farm and
the Cape Bridgewater Wind Farm. The Clements Gap Wind Farm is comprised of 27 Suzlon S88
2.1 MW wind turbines and the Cape Bridgewater Wind Farm is comprised of 29 Repower MM82
2.0 MW wind turbines. They determined that infrasound from wind turbines reached ambient
(background) levels within 656 ft (200 m) to 1,180 ft (360 m) (Table 8). The levels were found to be
lower than those measured around beaches, gas fired plants and major roadways. Indeed, humans
are regularly exposed to infrasound from several natural and engineered sources at levels that
exceed those produced by wind turbines. These findings are consistent with other scientific papers
in the field.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 28
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Table 8. Infrasound Measurements Near Wind Turbines and other Sources (Turnbull, 2012)

Noise Source Measured Level
(dB(G))

Clements Gap Wind Farm at 85m 72
Clements Gap Wind Farm at 185m 67
Clements Gap Wind Farm at 360m 61
Cape Bridgewater Wind Farm at 100m 66
Cape Bridgewater Wind Farm at 200m 63
Cape Bridgewater Wind Farm ambient 62
Beach at 25m from high water line 75
250m from coastal cliff face 69
8km inland from coast 57
Gas fired power station at 350m 74
Adglaide CBD at least 70m from any 76
major road

With respect to low frequency noise (LFN) and infrasound it is important to understand that Health
Canada’s Wind Turbine Noise study (Health Canada, 2014; Keith et al., 2016; Michaud et al., 2016)
also includes consideration of these sound levels and their impact on heath.

Keith et al., 2016 (part of the Health Canada Research):

“The simple relationship between A- and C- weighted levels suggests that there is unlikely
to be any statistically significant difference between analysis based on either C- or A-
weighted data.”

Michaud et al., 2016:

“In the current study, low-frequency noise was estimated by calculating C-weighted sound
pressure levels. No additional benefit was observed in assessing low frequency noise
because C- and A-weighted levels were so highly correlated. Depending on how dB(C)
was calculated and what range of data was assessed, the correlation between dB(C) and
dB(A) ranged from r = 0.84 tor = 0.97.”

Because LFN (dBC) and A-weighted (dBA) levels were so highly correlated, Health Canada’s
conclusions on the absence of direct or indirect health effects for audible wind turbine noise <46
dBA are true also for the noise in the LFN (dBC) range around the wind turbines they studied. In
otherwords, one does not have to conduct additional studies on LFN to determine potential noise
health related impacts or sleep disturbance from wind turbines. Therefore, exposure to these
frequencies are inherently included in the findings that no sleep disturbance was found in people
living with up to 46 dBA audible sound (Michaud et al., 2016).

McCunney et al. (2014), published a study entitled “Wind Turbines and Health: A Critical Review
of the Scientific Literature” in the Journal of Environmental and Occupational Medicine. This review

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 29
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

came to similar findings of those published by others (e.g., Knopper and Ollson, 2011; MassDEP,
2012; Knopper et al., 2014; Merlin et al., 2014). This review conducted a significant review of
infrasound and LFN levels from turbines and potential impact on health.

“Sounds with frequencies lower than 20 Hz (ie, infrasound) may be audible at very high
levels. At even higher levels, subjects may experience symptoms from very low-frequency
sounds—ear pressure (at levels as low as 127 dB SPL), ear pain (at levels higher than 145
dB), chest and abdominal movement, a choking sensation, coughing, and nausea (at levels
higher than 150 dB).80,81 The National Aeronautics and Space Administration considered
that infrasound exposures lower than 140 dB SPL would be safe for astronauts; American
Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists recommends a threshold limit value of
145 dB SPL for third-octave band levels between 1 and 80 Hz.81 As noted earlier,
infrasound from wind turbines has been measured at residential distances and noted to be
many orders of magnitude below these levels.”

and

“Components of wind turbine sound, including infrasound and low frequency sound, have
not been shown to present unique health risks to people living near wind turbines.”

In 2016 the Ministry for the Environment, Climate and Energy of the Federal State of Bade
Wouerttemberg in Germany reported on their study “Low-frequency noise including infrasound from
wind turbines and other sources” (MECE, 2016). The objective of the research was to collect field
measurement of infrasound and low-frequency noise around six different turbines by different
manufacturers ranging in size from 1.8 to 3.2 MW. Measurements were taken at 492 ft (150 m),
984 ft (300 m) and 2,296 ft (700 m) from wind turbines. Measurements of other common sources
of infrasound and low frequency noise were also collected for comparative purposes.

Figure 2 provides detail on the range of infrasound and low frequency noise measured at 984 ft
(300 m) from a wind turbine. It can be seen that the levels of infrasound from wind turbines were
similar to that of just the wind in an open field, while there was an increase in low frequency sound.
The levels were considerably lower than either being in the interior of a car, near the roadside traffic
or in a home with oil heating. All infrasound levels (< 20 Hz) were below the perception threshold
and international standards.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 30
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Linear third octave level in dB

120
110 -
100+
90
80
70
60
50=
40
30+
20+
10+

rrrrrrrr Tt °r T
— W N LD < 0O Mmoo o © O W OO0 MmO O
—

1.25
3.15
12.5
31.5 4

Frequency in Hz

== Perception threshold
=== Car interior, windows closed
== Road traffic, traffic volume of 2000 cars/h
== Qil heating
Open field, wind 10 m/s

Level range of the measured wind turbines, distance approx. 300 m

Figure 2. Measurements of infrasound and low frequency noise 300 m from wind turbines
compared to other sources.

Overall, they concluded:

“Infrasound and low-frequency noise are an everyday part of our technical and natural
environment. Compared with other technical and natural sources, the level of infrasound
caused by wind turbines is low. Already at a distance of 150 m, it is well below the human
limits of perception. Accordingly, it is even lower at the usual distances from residential
areas. Effects on health caused by infrasound below the perception thresholds have not
been scientifically proven. Together with the health authorities, we in Baden-Wiirttemberg
have come to the conclusion that adverse effects relating to infrasound from wind turbines
cannot be expected on the basis of the evidence at hand.

The measurement results of wind turbines also show no acoustic abnormalities for the
frequency range of audible sound. Wind turbines can thus be assessed like other
installations according to the specifications of the TA Larm (noise prevention regulations).

It can be concluded that, given the respective compliance with legal and professional
technical requirements for planning and approval, harmful effects of noise from wind
turbines cannot be deduced.”

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 31
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Marshall et al. 2023. The Health Effects of 72 Hours of Simulated Wind Turbine Infrasound: A
Double- Blind Randomized Crossover Study in Noise-Sensitive, Healthy Adults. Environmental
Health Perspectives. 131(3) March 2023

As part of the large Australian National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (NHMRC)
Targeted Call for Research into Wind Farms and Human Health a group of researchers undertook
a study to better understand the potential impacts of wind turbine infrasound on human physiology
and sleep. Starting at noon, participants were subjected to either wind turbine infrasound, sham
infrasound (same speakers not generating infrasound) and traffic noise for a 72-hour period,
including 3 nights. The subjects did not leave the test setting that consisted of a bedroom with
ensuite mimicking a studio apartment. Each of the 37 noise-sensitive but otherwise health adults
(age 18 — 72; 51% female) were exposed to all three noise conditions for the 72-hour period,
resulting in a double-blind triple arm study design.

Physiological and psychological measures and systems were tested for their sensitivity to infra-
sound: wake after sleep onset (WASO; primary outcome) and other measures of sleep
physiology, wake electroencephalography, Wind Turbine Syndrome (WTS) symptoms,
cardiovascular physiology, and neurobehavioral performance.

The researchers found:

Our findings did not support the idea that infrasound cause WTS. High level, but
inaudible, infrasound did not appear to perturb any physiological or psychological
measure tested in these study participants.

This is yet another study that strengthens the findings that although infrasound is emitted from wind
turbines it is not at a level that causes health impacts, wind turbine syndrome symptoms, sleep
effects or impairment of neurobehavioral performance.

Conclusion on Low Freguency Noise and Infrasound

The hypothesis that low frequency noise or infrasound from wind turbines is a causative agent in
health effects or sleep disturbance is not supported by the scientific and medical literature. Although
infrasound and low frequency noise are emitted from wind turbines and their contribution above
background sources can be measured close to wind turbines, the levels are typically within
background levels at homes and are well below levels that could induce health impacts.
Measurements at other wind farms are similar, if not lower, than natural and anthropogenic sources
of infrasound that we are exposed to, and are below international guidelines on infrasound.

9.2 Other Potential Health Concerns

Although with any sound source sleep is the critical health endpoint, there are a number of other
concerns that have been raised with living in proximity to wind turbines.

9.2.1 Peer Reviewed Studies on Self-Reported and Objective Measures of Health

This section is focused on the literature investigating both self-reported and physical measures of
health for those living around wind turbines. Given the extensive nature of the literature it is not
possible to summarize it all in this document. Rather, preference has been given to key references
and those most recent, or extensive.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 32
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

There are numerous peer-reviewed studies that have explicitly examined the relationship between
levels of wind turbine noise and various self-reported indicators of human health and well-being
(e.g., Health Canada 2014 and associated publications; Bakker et al. 2012; Janssen et al. 2011;
Pedersen 2011; Pedersen and Persson Waye 2004; 2007). These studies have included a wide
range of wind turbine models, manufacturers, heights and noise levels. They were conducted over
several years, in some cases over 10 years, after wind turbines became operational. The study of
wind turbine health concerns began in Europe in the early 2000s and most recently examined in
Canada.

In general, peer reviewed studies do not support a correlation between wind turbine noise exposure
and any other response other than some annoyance. For example, various studies based on the
results of two surveys performed in Sweden and one in the Netherlands (1755 respondents overall),
found that no measured variable (e.g., self-reported evaluations of high blood pressure,
cardiovascular disease, tinnitus, headache, sleep interruption, diabetes, tiredness, and reports of
feeling tense, stressed, or irritable) other than annoyance was directly related to wind turbine noise
for all three datasets (Pedersen, 2011) at noise levels below 45 dBA.

The most comprehensive study on health and living in proximity was that undertaken by Health
Canada between May and September 2013. Again this study had a 78.9% response rate of those
living within 10 km of numerous wind projects in Ontario and PEI. In 2016, Health Canada released
a series of peer-reviewed publications on their findings in a special edition of the Journal of
Acoustical Society of America in late March of 2016. Given that it was the most comprehensive
study undertaken a great deal of weight on this research and its findings is placed on it, given that
it is the most recent and comprehensive a cross-sectional epidemiological study undertaken on the
topic. Their reported high response rate included 1238 randomly selected participants (606 males,
632 females) between the ages of 18-79 years old. In addition, the study included both self-reported
and physical/objective measures of health in participants. The following sections contain
conclusions of the three papers examining the potential for health issues to manifest living as close
as 820 feet from a turbine and sound levels of up to 46 dBA.

Michaud et al. 2016a. Exposure to wind turbine noise: Perceptual responses and reported health
effects.

This paper provides the results of Health Canada’s investigation into perceptual responses
(annoyance and quality of life) and those of self-reported health effects by participants. Only the
self-reported health effects results are discussed here. Health Canada developed a final
questionnaire (Michaud, 2013) that consistent of socio-demographics, modules on community
noise and annoyance, self-reported health effects, lifestyle behaviors, and prevalent chronic illness.

Table 5 is a reproduction of Table V. of the study provides the list of self-reported health effects in
the population studied broken down by varying wind turbine noise levels (dBA). Essentially this
table reports the prevalence of each self-reported health effect, across varying sound levels, and
then uses statistical analysis to provide a CHM p-value to determine if the self-reported health
effects are significant. Simply put, if the CHM p-value is less than < 0.05 then there is a difference
amongst the reported effects across sound levels and vice versa if it is greater than > 0.05 then
there is no difference in how people are reporting effects across the sound groupings.

Health Canada reported that:

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 33
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

“The results from the current study did not show any statistically significant increase in the
self-reported prevalence of chronic pain, asthma, arthritis, high blood pressure, bronchitis,
emphysema, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), diabetes, heart disease,
migraines/headaches, dizziness, or tinnitus in relation to WTN exposure up to 46 dB. In
other words, individuals with these conditions were equally distributed among WTN
exposure categories.”

This resulted in the overall conclusion of the paper that:

“Beyond annoyance, results do not support an association between exposure to WTN up to 46 dBA
and the evaluated health-related endpoints.”

The Health Canada results are consistent with the previous decade of research in the field.

Table 9. Sample profile of health conditions (Michaud et al., 2016a).

TABLE V. Sample profile of health conditions.

Wind turbine noise (dB)

Variable n (%) <25 [25-30) [30-35) [35-40) [40-46] Overall CMH?* p-value
n 84" 95" 304° 521° 234" 138"
Health warse vs last year © 17 (202) 12 (126) 46 (15.1) 90 (173) 51(21.8) 216 (17.5) 0.1724
Migraines 18 (214) 24 (253) 56 (18.4) 134 (25.8) 57 (244) 289 (23.4) 0.2308
Dizziness 19 (22.6) 16 (168) 65(21.4) 114 (21.9) 59(252) 273 (2.1) 0.2575
Tinnitus 21 (250) 18 (189) 71(23.49) 129 (24.8) 54(232) 293(23.7) 0.7352
Chronic pain 20 (238) 23(242) 75 (24.8) 118 (22.6) 57 (245) 293 (23.7) 0.8999
Asthma 8(9.5 12 (126) 2(7.2) 43(8.3) 16 (68) 101 3.2) 0.2436
Arthritis 23(274) 38 (40.0) 98 (32.2) 175 (33.7) 68 (29.1) 402 (32.5) 0.6397
High blood pressure (BP) 24 (286) 36(379) 81 (26.8) 166 (32.0) 65 (27.8) 372(30.2) 0.7385
Medication for high BP 26 (313) 34 (358) 84 (27.6) 163 (31.3) 63 (27.0) 370(29.9) 0.4250
Family history of high BP 44 (524 49 (538) 132 (455) 254 (50.6) 121 (53.8) 600 (50.3) 0.6015
Chronic bronchitisfemphysema/COPD 3(3.6 10 (108) 17 (5.6) 27(5.2) 14 (6.0) ANEN)) 0.7676
Diabetes 7(8.3) 8(8.4) 33(10.9) 46 (8.8) 19(82) 113 9.1) 0.6890
Heart disease 8(9.5) 7(7.4 31(10.2) 32(6.1) 17(73) 95 (1.1 0.2110
Highly sleep disturbed” 13(157) 11 (116) 41 (13.5) 75 (145) 24 (103) 164 (13.3) 0.4300
Diagnosed sleep disorder 13 (155) 10 (105) 27 (8.9 44 (84 25 (10.7) 119 9.6) 0.3102
Sleep medication 16 (19.0) 18 (189) 39 (12.8) 46 (8.8) 29 (124) 148 (12.0) 0.0083
Restless leg syndrome 7(8.3) 16 (168) 37(12.2 81 (155) 3 (141 174 (14.1)
Restless leg syndrome (ON) 4(6.7) 15(174) 27 (11.0) 8(173) 28 (165) 152 (15.0) 0.0629°
Restless leg syndrome (PEI) 3(125) 1(11.1) 10 (16.9) 342 5(7.8) 22(97) 0.1628°
Medication anxiety or depression 11 (13.1) 14 (147) 35(11.5 9(113) 23(98) 142 (11.5) 0.2470
QoL past month'

Poor 9(108) 332 21 (6.9) 29 (5.6) 20 (86) 82 (6.6) 09814

Good 74 (892) 92 (96.8) 283 (93.1) 492 (944) 213 (91.4) 1154 (93.4)
Satisfaction with health’

Dissatisfied 13 (155) 13(137) 49 (16.1) 66 (12.7) 36(154) 177 (14.3) 0.7262

Satisfied 71 (845) 82 (86.3) 255 (839) 455 (87.3) 198 (84.6) 1061 (85.7)

“The Cochran Mantel-Haenszel chi-square test is used to adjust for provinces unless otherwise indicated, p-values <0.05 are considered to be statistically

significant.

"Columns may not add to total due to missing data.
“Worse consists of the two ratings: “Somewhat worse now” and “Much worse now.”

“High sleep disturbance consists of the two mtings: “very” and “extremely™ sleep disturbed.

“Chi-square test of independence.

‘Quality of Life (QoL) and Satisfaction with Health were assessed with the two stand-alone questions on the WHOQOL-BREF. Reporting “poor” overall QoL
reflects a response of “poor” or “very poor,” and “good” reflects a response of “neither poor nor good,” “good,” or “very good.” Reporting “dissatisfied” over-
all Satisfaction with Health reflects a response of “very dissatisfied” or “dissatisfied,” and “satisfied” reflects a response of “neither satisfied nor dissatisfied,”
“satisfied” or “very satisfied.” A detailed presentation of the results related to QoL is presented by Feder et al. (2015).

9.3 Recent Systematic Review on Wind Turbines and Health

Van Kamp, | & van den Berg, F. 2018. Health Effects Related to Wind Turbine Sound, Including

Low-Frequency Sound and Infrasound Acoust Aust (2018) 46:31-57

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects

Yankton County Planning Commission

May 13, 2024

34



OLLS®N

Health

Both authors work for public health agencies in the Netherlands and are highly regarded experts in
wind turbine health research field. They conducted a systematic review of the published literature
between 2009 to 2017 on health effects related to wind turbine sound, with particular emphasis on
LFN and infrasound.

They concluded that there was no evidence of a specific health effect of the LFN or infrasound
components of wind turbine sound. With respect to Dr. Alves-Pereira’s work in relation to infrasound
from turbines they found:

Vibroacoustic disease and the wind turbine syndrome are controversial and scientifically
not supported. At the present levels of wind turbine sound, the alleged occurrence of
vibroacoustic disease (VAD) or the disease (VVVD) causing the wind turbine syndrome
(WTS) is unproven and unlikely.

Freiberqg et al. 2019 Health effects of wind turbines on humans in residential settings: Results of a
scoping review. Environmental Research 169 (2019) 446—463

The authors conducted a comprehensive systematic review of the potential health effects in
humans living in proximity to wind turbines. The researchers retrieved 84 articles that varied
significantly in methods and health outcomes assessed that met their study inclusion criteria.
Overall, they found:

Multiple cross-sectional studies reported that wind turbine noise is associated with noise
annoyance, which is moderated by several variables such as noise sensitivity, attitude
towards wind turbines, or economic benefit.

Wind turbine noise is not associated with stress effects and biophysiological variables of
sleep.

Findings from cross-sectional studies of higher methodological quality — that
were supported by findings from lower-quality observational studies — illustrated an
existing association between wind turbine noise and annoyance and no association
between noise from wind turbines and stress effects and biophysiological variables of
sleep.

In higher quality studies, wind turbine noise was not associated with restricted quality of
life, sleep disturbance, and anxiety and/or depression, which contrasts — at least partly —
with findings from lower-quality studies.”

Van Kamp, | & van den Berqg, F. 2021. Health Effects Related to Wind Turbine Sound: An Update.
Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2021, 18, 9133

The authors conducted an updated systematic review of the published literature between 2017 to
2020 on health effects related to wind turbine sound. Their conclusions were consistent with their
previous literature review (van Kamp & van den Berg, 2018). They reaffirmed:

There is no indication that the low-frequency component has other effects on residents
other than normal sound nor that infrasound well below the hearing threshold can have any
effect.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 35
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Ellenbogen, J. 2022 Wind turbine noise and sleep. Editorial. SLEEP. 2022 1-3

Dr. Ellenbogen, MD is a highly regarded neurologist and sleep specialist whose focus is on noise-
induced sleep disruption. He has been researching the potential for wind turbine noise to impact
sleep since he was the lead author on the Wind Turbine Health Impact Study: Report of
Independent Expert Panel report, prepared for the Massachusetts Department of Health
(Ellenbogen et al., 2012). In this editorial he opines that:

Between Health Canada and this paper by Liebich et al., it appears that the reasonable
placement of wind turbines does not pose a risk to human sleep. ...If companies wish to
remain in the reasonable window of protection against noise-induced sleep loss, they
would do well to limit themselves to using the data demonstrated by Health Canada—
allowing noises to not exceed 46 dBA measured outside the residence [8]. The actual,
population-based threshold may be higher, but existing data support this number.

The weight of scientific evidence continues to demonstrate that the common siting guideline of the
45 dBA sound level and a 1,500 ft setback, will ensure the protection of the community’s health.

Conclusions on Other Potential Health Impacts

The weight of scientific evidence supports that permitting sound levels at the exterior of non-
participating homes of up to 46 dBA Leq and a setback of 1,500 ft to dwellings would not impact
sleep or other objective or self-reported measures of health.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 36
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

10 Quality of Life and Wind Turbines

Determining if annoyance or any other perceived health effects for those living around wind projects
has also been examined by determining if there has been a diminishment in their overall quality of
life (QOL). This relates directly to whether or not annoyance leads to a deterioration of QOL.

There have been a few published papers in this field that have reached inconsistent findings
(Shepherd, et al., 2011; Nissenbaum, et al., 2012; Mroczek et al., 2012). They are typically of very
small sample size and lead to more questions than answers. The results of these peer-reviewed
papers are best summarized in the review papers of Knopper et al. (2014) and McCunney et al.
(2014).

However, the most comprehensive work that has been published in this field was through the
Health Canada research.

Feder et al. 2015 An assessment of quality of life using the WH | -BREF among participants
living in the vicinity of wind turbines Journal of Environmental Research. (Health Canada

They administered the World Health Organization Quality of Life — BREF (WHOQOL-BREF)
questionnaire to 1238 participants that lived between 820 feet to 7 miles from wind turbines. This
questionnaire evaluates self-reported physical health, psychological, social relationships and
environment in relation to QOL. Regardless of sound level at people’s homes wind turbine noise
did not influence QOL. They start their Discussion with:

“The present study findings do not support an association between exposure to WTN up
fo 46 dBA [820 ft] and any of the WHOQOL-BREF domains (Physical Health,
Psychological, Social Relationships and Environment) or the two stand-alone questions
pertaining to rated QOL and Satisfaction with Health. Participants who were exposed to
higher WTN levels did not rate their QOL or Satisfaction with Health significantly worse
than those who were exposed to lower WTN levels, nor did they report having significantly
worse outcomes in terms of factors that comprise the 4 domains.”

In addition, the Feder et al. (2015) paper includes a detailed discussion on how their findings
compare with the previous conflicting report. Given the size and comprehensive nature of this study
it should be given more weight than previous reports.

Overall, the work by Health Canada suggests that quality of life should not be diminished for
residents around wind energy projects with sound levels as high as 46 dBA Leq and living within
1,500 ft of multiple wind turbines.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 37
May 13, 2024



11 Shadow Flicker

OLLS®N

Health

Shadow flicker occurs when interruption of sunlight by the wind turbine blades results in a change
in light intensity within a home or building. The flickering phenomenon does not occur unless one
is inside a building or structure with windows. When one experiences shadowing from a turbine
when standing outdoors it is simply a rotating shadow cast on the ground. Shadow flicker is
unavoidable for wind turbines; however, it typically only occurs for a limited number of hours a year
at a home. This is due to the fact that certain factors must be present:

a. the sun must be in a precise location in the sky such that sunlight will cast a shadow from

the wind turbine;

b. the wind turbine must be in operation during this period (i.e., the wind must be of sufficient

speed for the wind turbine to be operational);

c. shadow will not be cast on overcast of cloud cover days; and,

d. the shadow will typically not be cast any further than 10x the total height of the turbine to
any appreciable extent. For most modern turbines this would mean shadow flicker would

not extend much past 2 km.

Conducting shadow flicker modeling has become common
practice for proposed wind farm projects across Canada.
There are several commercially available software
packages, including WindPro that was used to model the
shadow flicker for the Updated Project.

All models initially calculate a “Worst Case or Maximum
Astronomical shadow” number of hours that a residence
may experience shadow flicker (Assessment Case A —
Updated Project). These numbers can then be adjusted to
provide a “Adjusted, Realistic, Actual or Expected” number
of hours of shadow flicker (Assessment Case B — Updated
Project). It is important to distinguish between these

Sun Ny
N
N

Side View

i

[ —

Flicker shadow zone
—_——

R ——

. / C ;D —

R

Figure I.

Generalized geometry for turbine flicker, showing an observer
in the shadow area. Note the main analysis assumes the obser-
ver and turbine blades are directly facing each other.

Epilepsia © ILAE

scenarios, as some jurisdictions have adopted standards based on either astronomical or realistic

shadow flicker hour predictions.

Worst Case / Astronomical (Assessment Case A): The models consider that the sun is
always shining during daytime hours, the wind turbines are always rotating, and the wind
direction from each turbine is such that the wind turbine is always perpendicular to the
residences so that shadows could be cast at the residences. This is a predicted extreme
theoretical number hours that will not occur at any residence.

Adjusted / Actual / Realistic / Expected (Assessment Case B): The model is run in the
astronomical mode and then the results are adjusted for percentage of monthly cloud cover
(solar statistics) and operating hours of the wind project. Under these conditions shadow
flicker will not be generated and it more accurately predicts the number of hours of shadow

flicker at a residence.

There are other obstructions that can limit both the Worst Case and the Realistic modeled numbers
of shadow flicker. These include trees, shrubs, and other ancillary non-occupied structures (e.g.,

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 38

May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

barns) that could interrupt the predicted shadow flicker at a home. Neither of the two Assessment
Case scenarios takes into account these types of obstructions at residential receptors. Another
layer of conservatism is that models are set-up and run in the “greenhouse mode”. This means
each residence is oriented to have omni-directional windows and thus it will produce more
conservative results since it assumes that there is always a window in direct line of site of each
wind turbine and the sun.

The model outputs can show the exact days, the time of day, the duration and turbine of origin of
shadow flicker. These values are then summed to provide the annual number of hours of shadow
flicker predicted. For the Realistic scenario (Assessment Case B) the percentage of cloud cover
and operational downtime is used to adjust these values. Both Assessment Cases A and B provide
a conservative estimate of shadow flicker that could be expected at a home.

11.1.1 Shadow Flicker Health, Annoyance and Nuisance

Four peer-reviewed scientific research papers were retrieved that considered the potential for
shadow potential to impact health and to increase annoyance or nuisance in people living near
wind turbines.

The main health concern raised relating to shadow flicker is the potential risk of seizures in those
people with photosensitive epilepsy. Photosensitive epilepsy affects approximately 5% of people
with epilepsy where their seizures can be triggered by flashing light. The Epilepsy Society first
investigated this issue in the United Kingdom in the late 2000s. They polled their members and
determined that no one had experienced an epileptic seizure living or being in proximity to a wind
farm from shadow flicker (Epilepsy Society, 2012).

Following on this informal polling two of the United Kingdom’s academic experts in epilepsy
published scientific research articles in the area. | previously provided to the Commission that
Harding et al. (2008) and Smedley et al. (2010) have published the seminal studies dealing with
this concern. Both authors investigated the relationship between photo-induced seizures (i.e.,
photosensitive epilepsy) and wind turbine shadow flicker. Both studies suggested that flicker from
turbines that interrupt or reflect sunlight at frequencies greater than 3 Hz pose a potential risk of
inducing photosensitive seizures in 1.7 people per 100,000 of the photosensitive population. For
turbines with three blades, this translates to a maximum speed of rotation of 60 revolutions per
minute (rpm). The Nordex 155 turbine in the Updated Project has a nominal rotational speed of 11
rpm, well below a speed that could trigger epileptic seizure.

Two of the most comprehensive and widely cited published scientific review articles on this topic
are Knopper & Ollson (2011) and McCunney et al. (2014). Both papers concluded that shadow
flicker is not associated with health effects for those living in proximity to wind turbines. Knopper &
Ollson (2011) concluded:

“Although shadow flicker from wind turbines is unlikely [to] lead to a risk of photo-induced
epilepsy there has been little if any study conducted on how it could heighten the
annoyance factor of those living in proximity to turbines. It may however be included in the
notion of visual cues. In Ontario it has been common practice to attempt to ensure no more
than 30 hours of shadow flicker per annum at any one residence.”

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 39
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Since 2014, there have been two studies conducted that examined the potential for shadow flicker
to lead to increased annoyance for those living near wind turbines.

Voicescu et al., 2016. Estimating annoyance to calculated wind turbine shadow flicker is improved
when variables associated with wind turbine noise exposure are considered. J. Acoust. Soc. Am.

139 (3),

In 2016, Health Canada published a paper using the questionnaires of over 1200 people living as
close as 800 feet from a turbine they attempted to determine if they could predict the percentage
of people that were highly annoyed by varying levels of hours of shadow flicker (SF) a year or
number of minutes on a given day. However, although annoyance did tend to increase with
increasing minutes a day, they could not find a statistical relationship:

“For reasons mentioned above, when used alone, modeled SF, results represent an
inadequate model for estimating the prevalence of HAyrsr as its predictive strength is
only about 10%. This research domain is still in its infancy and there are enough sources
of uncertainty in the model and the current annoyance question to expect that refinements
in future research would yield improved estimates of SF annoyance.”

Haac et al. 2022. In the shadow of wind enerqy: Predicting community exposure and annoyance to
wind turbine shadow flicker in the United States. Enerqgy Research & Social Science 102471. Pq.
1-16.

This work was completed by the Lawrence Berkley National Laboratory (LBNL) in the United States
as part of a large US Department of Energy (DOE) Wind Neighbors National Survey. The purpose
of the study was to determine if the duration of shadow flicker could be correlated to shadow flicker
(SF) annoyance in the population. Overall, the authors reported:

This study modeled SF exposure at nearly 35,000 residences across 61 wind projects in
the United States, 747 of which were also survey respondents. Using these results, we
analyzed the factors that led to perceived SF and self-reported SF annoyance. We found
that perceived SF is primarily an objective response to SF exposure, distance to the closest
turbine, and whether the respondent moved in after the wind project was built. Conversely,
SF annoyance was not significantly correlated with SF exposure. Rather, SF annoyance is
primarily a subjective response to wind turbine aesthetics, annoyance to other
anthropogenic sounds, level of education, and age of the respondent.

Similar to the Health Canada findings (Voicescu, 2016), the LBNL study could not correlate the
number of theoretical (astronomical) or actual (adjusted case) hours a year or minutes at a time in
duration of shadow flicker with annoyance in the population. In other words, limiting the number of
hours of shadow flicker on an annual basis at a non-participating home is unlikely to decrease the
annoyance the residents feel towards any shadow flicker at all or the turbines themselves.

Therefore, there is nothing in the scientific literature that suggests that shadow flicker should be
limited, either for hours per year or total minutes at a time, to protect health or avoid annoyance.

11.1.2 Shadow Flicker Standards

However, | do believe that reasonable limits on shadow flicker are prudent to keep nuisance levels
to a minimum at non-participating residences.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 40
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

A number of North American jurisdictions have adopted various ordinances and rules limiting
shadow flicker on non-participating land. A no more than 30 hours of actual shadow flicker modeled
on a residence (Adjusted / Assessment Case B) has almost become the universally adopted
standard. Erroneously this level of shadow flicker at homes has often been referred to as the
“Industry Standard”. It is not the wind turbine proponents that derived this standard; rather it is one
that has been adopted in provincial/state or local statute.

The origins of this standard are traced to Germany in 2002. The German Territorial Committee for
Emissions control released the document “Hinweise zur Ermittlung und Beurteilung der optischen
Immissionen von Windenergieanlagen, Landerausschuss fir Immissionsschutz [Notes on the
identification and evaluation of optical emissions from wind turbines], (in German).” The standard
was based on limiting the shadow flicker nuisance of local residents. They subsequently codified
this formal shadow flicker guideline as part of the Federal Emission Control Act (Haugen, 2011).
Similar standards to this have been adopted internationally with modifications for shadow flicker.
The German standard is: no more that 30 hours of modeled shadow flicker (theoretical / worst case)
a year, no more than 30 minutes of shadow flicker at a time, and no more than 8 hours of actual
(Adjusted / Assessment Case B) shadow flicker a year on a home.

Each jurisdiction that has adopted a shadow flicker restriction at non-participating residences has
had to weigh what would be a reasonable level of shadow flicker that they believe would be
acceptable and avoid excessive complaints. It is clear from the Koppen et al. (2017) review of
international standards for shadow flicker that they can vary considerably from jurisdiction to
jurisdiction. | would caution the NSDECC that the table of shadow flicker jurisdictional standards in
Koppen (2017) contains several errors, including for the North American references.

Koppen (2017) states:

However, there are differences in the exact implementation, like the consideration of only
the worst case, only the real case or both the worst and the real case shadow impact. Other
common differences are the exact definition of shadow flicker sensitive receptors and the
zone of influence which has to be considered. This can lead to considerable differences in
energy production losses by a shadow flicker control module.

Across North America many jurisdictions have successfully adopted shadow flicker restrictions
based on the “Adjusted/Actual/Realistic/Expected” scenario (Assessment Case B). The following
are some examples of state-wide legislation.

North Dakota

The North Dakota Public Service Commission requires effects from the impact upon light-
sensitive land uses to be managed and maintained at an acceptable minimum (N.D. Admin.
Code §69-06-08-01(5)(c)(3)). The North Dakota Public Service Commission has recognized
the 30-hour per year standard and evaluates actual shadow flicker impacts pursuant to this
standard. Justification, similar to what is contained in this report, for continued use of this
standard has been provided to the ND PSC during several recent wind project applications
and hearings.

Connecticut

Similarly, the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies Section 16-50j-95, part (c) requires:

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 41
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

Shadow flicker shall not occur more than 30 total annual hours cumulative at any off-site
occupied structure location from each of the proposed wind turbine locations and any
alternative wind turbine locations at the proposed site and any alternative sites.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 42
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

12 Physical Health and Safety Considerations for Determining Appropriate
Setback Distances

Public health and safety with respect to wind projects are governed by setback and safety distances
set by local, state and federal authorities. In addition, equipment manufacturers have developed
similar recommendations based on their experience with projects around the world.

The following describes the suitability of use of a turbine height multiplier for protection from ice
throw and blade failure. Overall, these setback distances are not meant to be protective of the fact
that these issues can occur, rather the infrequent events under which they happen and the odds
that an individual would be harmed.

Ice Throw

In 2007, Garrad Hassan Canada Inc. was commissioned by the Canadian Wind Energy Association
(CanWEA) to undertake a probabilistic risk evaluation of the likelihood of ice fragment throw from
wind turbines would strike a member of the public. They used a hypothetical wind turbines, similar
to those commonly in operation. They examined meteorological conditions in Ontario, Canada,
which are similar to winter environment in South Dakota. Three scenarios were examined —
Scenario A House, Scenario B Road and Scenario C Individual. Their findings are provided in Table
6.

Table 10. Ice Throw Strike Probabilities (Garrad Hassan, 2007)

Scenario A Scenario B Scenario C
House Road Individual
« 1000 ft? house * north-south road is * ever-present individual
» 1000 ft from turbine situated directly west of between 65 ft to 1000 ft
. 1 ice strike per 62,500 a turbine at 650 ft from turbine
years * 100 vehicles at 40 mph * 1 strike in 500 years
* 1 vehicle strike per
100,000 years

More recent studies on the potential for vehicles or individuals to be struck by ice throw from larger
wind turbines support the Garrad Hassan findings. What is seen is that ice throw pieces that would
be capable of harming people or vehicles typically fall within a distance of the turbine height.

The results indicate an extremely low probability that an individual or vehicle would ever be struck.
They are far less than risks that people face in everyday life (e.g., driving a car, being struck by
lightning, or being in an airplane crash).

Blade Failure

There have been a number of probabilistic studies that have been conducted examining the
potential for blade failure to harm people or strike vehicles. In a recent U.S. study by Rogers and
Costello (2022) of the School of Aerospace Engineering, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta,
GA, titled Methodology to assess wind turbine blade throw risk to vehicles on nearby roads, they
found:

For example, using the one fatality per impact assumption, the fatality risk for the 5.5 MW
turbine at a 1.1x tip height setback is 1 fatality per 12 million years for 1 vehicle/mile traffic
density, and 1 fatality per 1.1 million years for 10 vehicles/mile. Similarly, the results for the

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 43
May 13, 2024



OLLS®N

Health

1.5 MW and 3.4 MW turbines at a 1.1x tip height setback are well below 1 fatality per
100,000 years for 1 vehicle/mile and 10 vehicles/mile traffic densities. This indicates that,
from an engineering safety perspective, the 1.1x tip height setback produces a satisfactory
level of risk mitigation for rural roadways.

Results for these example turbines show that the typical setback of 1.1x tip height is
generally sufficient at reducing risk to extremely low levels (between 1 impact in 1 million
years and 1 impact in 10 million years) for roads in rural areas which tend to be lightly
traveled.

In 2013, MMI Engineering Ltd undertook a study titled “Study and development of a methodology
for the estimation of the risk and harm to persons from wind turbines” for the United Kingdom
government. Through their probabilistic assessment they determined that risk of fatality from wind
turbine blade fragment throw is low in comparison to other societal risks. It was roughly equivalent
to the risk of fatality from taking two aircraft flights a year or being struck by lightning.

Tower Collapse

Tower collapse is a very rare event, although it is acknowledged that it can occur. When wind
turbine tower fail, they tend to collapse within a distance equal or less to their total height. The
proposed changes require wind turbines be placed 1.1 times Turbine Height from edge of the Right-
of-Way from roads and property lines. This safety distance ensures that in the unlikely event of a
tower collapse that the wind turbine will impact only the participating parcel of land and not interfere,
or affect, roads or neighboring properties.

Setback Siting Guidelines for Wind Energy Projects
Yankton County Planning Commission 44
May 13, 2024



o
rF’IOLSINELLI

900 W. 48th Place, Suite 900, Kansas City, MO 64112 - (816) 753-1000

Testimony of
Alan Claus Anderson
Chair, Polsinelli Energy Practice Group
Adjunct Professor of Law, University of Kansas Law School of Law

Before the Yankton County Commission

June 6, 2024

Commissioners,

My name is Alan Claus Anderson and | am an attorney and the Chair of the Energy Practice
Group at Polsinelli, an AmLaw 100 law firm with more than 1,000 attorneys serving clients in
numerous industries, including a robust roster of attorneys working in and around the energy and
transmission sector. | am also an adjunct Professor of Law at the University of Kansas School of
Law where | teach Renewable Energy Law Practice and Policy. Thank you for allowing me to
appear before you today to discuss the vital role that renewable energy, and specifically wind
generation, plays as part of our national energy grid and to address common misconceptions that
often arise when wind development is proposed in a community such as yours.

A. INTRODUCTION

Polsinelli isan AM Law 100 law firm with 23 offices across the United States. We are fortunate
to work for clients in all areas of energy production and transmission, from oil, gas, and coal to
renewable energies such as wind and solar. | also study and teach renewable energy law at the
University of Kansas School of Law, with a particular emphasis on the impacts of both good and
bad policy. In my professional capacity, | am commonly asked to testify in front of legislative and
policy-setting bodies at both state, county, and local levels on the mechanics of the U.S. energy
grid and marketplace, the economic impacts of renewable energy generation on local communities,
and the potential impacts of proposed state and local policy decisions pertaining to renewable
energy generation.

B. OVERVIEW
Hosting a renewable generation project in a community is a significant opportunity that
requires thoughtful planning and coordination with local governments. Over several decades,

County officials across the United States have undertaken an education process about the unique
benefits and questions that arise when a wind project is proposed in their community. The good

polsinelli.com

Atlanta Boston Chicago Dallas Denver Houston Kansas City Los Angeles Miami Nashville New York
Phoenix St. Louis San Francisco Seattle Silicon Valley Washington, D.C. Wilmington
Polsinelli PC, Polsinelli LLP in California

95307110.3



n
rF’IOLSINELLI

news for your community is that you have the benefit of that experience and have a significant
well of information to draw upon to answer questions that are being raised. However, with the
internet comes a wave of information both valid and invalid, and so the difficulty lies in identifying
misinformation and finding reliable, peer-reviewed, and properly sourced research to address any
guestions you may have.

Recognizing that challenge, | am here today to provide an overview of several topics that have
arisen before this body recently. Specifically, | will address the importance and institutional
protections given to property rights in the United States, provide a high-level overview of the
mechanics of the electrical grid and energy marketplace in the United States, and provide a
summary of the significant research that has been conducted on the potential impacts of wind
generation projects on neighboring property values.

C. RENEWABLE SITING DECISIONS ARE OFTEN A QUESTION OF PROPERTY RIGHTS

Before we discuss the energy issues that underpin our electricity grid, it is helpful to frame the
impact that any potential land use decisions may have on private property rights. One of the most
fundamental protections provided by
the framers of our Constitution is a right
for U.S. citizens to determine how their
private property may best be used. In
socialist or communist countries, the
government restricts and controls how
property is used in the marketplace with
little control given to individuals.

“One of the most fundamental requirements of a
capitalist economic system—and one of the most
misunderstood concepts—is a strong system of
property rights.” Professor Armen Alchian,
emeritus professor of economics at UCLA, The
Concise Encyclopedia of Economics, 2008.

Governments with a robust system of private property rights allow private landowners to
generally make the decision as to how they will use their property in a free market economic
system. A landowner’s use of their property is how that landowner takes part in the free market
economy. Professor Alchian at UCLA reminds us that, “one of the most fundamental requirements
of a capitalist economic system—and one of the most misunderstood concepts—is a strong system
of property rights.”

Restrictions on the use of private property inherently take away a land use from a landowner,
with such taking causing some level of economic harm to that impacted landowner. There are good
reasons for creating land use regulations that protect the health and safety of the community, but
when a government takes away economic use of a landowner’s property beyond what is needed it
is a taking of that economic use by the government and impacts our free-market capitalist system.

Private property rights have been critical since the founding of the United States of America
and as part of South Dakota’s entry as a state. The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States
Constitution provides that no state shall “deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without
due process of law....” Similarly, Section 2 of Article 6 of the South Dakota Bill of Rights provides
that “No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law.” Both
our country and South Dakota were founded on the principle that protection of private property
rights must be foremost in our beliefs.

95307110.3



n
rF’IOLSINELLI

Excessive restrictions on private property take away property rights just as a physical taking
does. For example, excessive setbacks for wind turbines that do not add additional health and
safety protections would take away the ability of landowners to use their property for wind energy
generation. As a deliberative body, such as the Yankton County Commission, reviews draft
restrictions on wind energy, it must do so with an understanding that its decisions will either
evidence a belief in a strong system of private property rights or a system where the government
dictates its citizens use of their private property in the free market.

D. RENEWABLE GENERATION IS AN IMPORTANT COMPONENT OF A ROBUST ELECTRICAL
GRID

Electricity is simultaneously one of the most fundamental, and one of the most misunderstood,
facets of our modern lives. Over the last century, our nation has developed a vast, complex, and
interconnected system, impacting multiple layers of regulators, regulations, technical and
engineering obstacles, and geographic barriers, all with the simple goal of allowing us to flip a
switch and turn on a light. The internet is full of inaccuracies and oversimplifications of how this
system operates leading to frequent misunderstandings from lay people, particularly when it comes
to how renewable generation fits into this puzzle. With that in mind, we feel it would be beneficial
to provide a brief overview of the U.S. energy marketplace and the significant role that renewable
generation plays, both nationally and for the State of South Dakota.

Overview of the United States Grid Infrastructure

At the highest level, the United States grid is divided into three main “interconnections,” which
operate as largely independent systems of generation and transmission infrastructure with only a
limited ability to transfer power through “seams” between the three regions.

U.S. electric power regions

Interconnections
Eastern

ERCOT
Western

_ \ b Circles represent the 66
eia’ o o balancing autharities

Source: U.S. Energy Information Administration, https://WWW.eia.qov/todévinenerqv/detaiI.php?id:27152

95307110.3


https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=27152

n
rF’IOLSINELLI

Each of these regions is then further divided into individual grid operating authorities that have
the responsibility to oversee the management of the grid and the balance of supply and demand
within a specific region. These authorities are typically either are public utilities or larger quasi-
governmental entities known as Regional Transmission Organizations or “RTOs.” RTOs are
member-operated non-profit entities, often led by the applicable member public utilities and
energy generators within a region who band together to ensure reliability and manage supply and
demand within a region.

While there is limited connection between the three national interconnects, energy generation
is coordinated throughout the RTOs to create greater reliability and market efficiency. South
Dakota is predominantly located within the Eastern Interconnect, and further within an RTO
known as the Southwest Power Pool (“SPP”). As such, electricity generated in South Dakota (for
example by a public utility or a renewable generator) will be transmitted onto an electrical grid
that is managed by SPP. The local utility or renewable developer, as a member of SPP, reports
their generation supply and electrical demand to SPP and that power is then dispatched
appropriately across SPP’s 14 state footprint.

Distribution

mymg
ELECTRICITY RETAILERS DOMESTIC USERS
BRRRRRRRRE ANDBUSINESSES

GENERATORS

S INDUSTRIAL USERS

95307110.3


https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/california.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/northwest.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/southwest.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/texas.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/spp.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/spp.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/midwest.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/midwest.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/southeast.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/southeast.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/pjm.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/pjm.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/new-york.asp
https://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/new-england.asp

n
rF’IOLSINELLI

One of the biggest advantages of an RTO system is that supply and demand fluctuations are
dispersed among a much larger geographic area, with a larger pool of participants that can be called
upon to balance the system. This balancing over a larger geographic area, and amongst diverse
sources of generation, creates far greater reliability and market efficiency. For example, a local
South Dakota utility can purchase power generated by a wind project in Oklahoma through the
SPP market to help meet demand requirements on a particularly hot summer day. Similarly,
reliable wind power generated in South Dakota can be utilized to help balance out coal and natural
gas generation in northern Texas during uncommonly severe winter events.

It must be noted that there is often misinformation about the role of the RTO and its interplay
with the local utility’s generation. The RTO does not favor any source of generation, such as
renewable energy. The RTO is simply the manager of the grid and the body by which the wholesale
market of electricity is maintained. The local utility can choose to run a its generation at full
capacity and favor its own generation regardless of what electricity may otherwise be available on
the wholesale market. However, and as you will see in the discussion of electricity generation
pricing, doing so may not be in the best interests of the ratepayers.

Generation Source Accreditation

For the RTO to manage the grid and balance supply and demand across a wide region, it must
understand when and how much electricity will be generated by each generation source. In these
calculations, the RTO
understands that some
generation will generally run at
a consistent capacity with
limited ability to fluctuate
(“baseload generation’), some
sources are available to ramp
up and down quickly when
needed (“dispatchable
generation”), and other sources
are available under Certain il . e o con @ Moo @ eseirueion o Waseest @ Waste Dispora Soices @ Wind S 4 2 b
conditions (*intermittent
generation”). !

Fuel Mix - SPP B May 30, 2024 Us/cen 4 b &

40 GW

30 GW

20 GW

Many try to simplify or misstate the role of each of these sources of generation, but each serves
an important purpose for the RTO to meet variable demand (i.e., more electricity may be needed
during a winter storm in the middle of the day than during a cool fall night). Baseload generation
provides a critical foundation of electrical generation that is available all the time, but it cannot
quickly ramp up and down to satisfy fluctuations in demand that occur throughout the day or from
season to season. Because electricity generated must not be greater than demand, and while

1 GridStatus.io, Fuel Mix-SPP, May 30, 2024, https://www.gridstatus.io/graph/fuel-
mix?iso=spp&date=2024-05-30, accessed at: 5/31/24.

95307110.3


https://www.gridstatus.io/graph/fuel-mix?iso=spp&date=2024-05-30
https://www.gridstatus.io/graph/fuel-mix?iso=spp&date=2024-05-30

n
rF’IOLSINELLI

baseload generation is critical to a reliable grid, it therefore cannot meet moments of peak demand.
To help fill the demand peaks, we must look to dispatchable and intermittent generation.

From an RTOs’ perspective, it is vital that each component of this system is that individual
generation units perform as expected. For planning purposes, to manage the different profiles of
each of these types of generation (baseload, dispatchable, and intermittent) the RTO assigns an
“accredited capacity” for each source. In other words, the RTO knows that intermittent generation
does not operate all the time, so it rates that capacity according to what it can expect it to provide
to the grid at any given moment. Fossil fuel generation similarly does not operate all the time, but
it is expected to run at a high percentage of time. While this generation is more expensive than
intermittent generation, it is an important part of the grid as it can provide reliability.

If a generator fails to provide the amount of energy that the RTO expects, then an imbalance
can occur that could lead to reliability problems and brownouts. An example of this dilemma
occurred in February 2021 with Winter Storm Uri. Natural gas pipelines and coal piles across the
Midwest froze, significantly hindering the operation of coal and gas-fired generation. As a result,
those units were derated and operated at less than full capacity, causing imbalances in energy
supply at a time when customers were heating their homes.? The wind, however, kept blowing
and wind generation continued to operate largely as expected throughout the severe weather event,
which in turn provided a reliable pool of electricity that SPP dispatched to the areas that needed it
most. The following table from SPP breaks down the supply of energy provided from each
generation type during the event, with red showing the amount that was actually available, blue
showing the amount that SPP expected (known as the “accredited” amount), and green showing
the amount of energy actually supplied over a 5-year period.

2021 WINTER STORM URI CAPACITY PERFORMANCE

02/16/2021 07:00

B Available Coal Gas Wind Nuclear
¥ 5-Year Available 22 20 7 2 2 2
® Accredited 20 25 2
17
15
z z ° z 4 4 =
| | 13 | I I .
I 0
Hydro Solar Other

Fuel supply and

3 101 1
mechanical issues were i
largest causes of P . 0 6 o
generation - N o
unavailability )
o 9
SPP

Source: Suskie, Paul, Southwest Power Pool, presentation to the Kansas Special Committee on Energy and Utilities,
“SPP Resource Adequacy Overview”

2 See Environment Texas Research & Policy Center, “The Texas Frees: Timeline of event”,
https://environmentamerica.org/texas/center/articles/the-texas-freeze-timeline-of-events/

95307110.3



n
rF’IOLSI NELLI

In response to situations like Winter Storm Uri, SPP has begun undertaking a process to
reevaluate its planning criteria for generation sources.® As described above, “accreditation” is how
SPP determines the amount of energy that a specific generator will provide when it is called upon.
Historically, SPP would apply generation capability testing, looking largely at short testing
durations during summer months and defining a maximum capability that it could expect to
provide under most conditions. Under the new “Performance Based Accreditation” model, SPP is
beginning to differentiate individual generators according to their reliability performance,
correcting an overcounting of capacity that was predominantly seen in coal and natural gas
generation. This new accreditation standard will be rolled out in phases between 2024 and 2027.

To be clear, a robust generation system requires a variety of generation types, including coal,
natural gas, nuclear, wind, solar, and other sources of generation. Both traditional and renewable
fuels serve important roles in maintaining the reliability of our grid and to provide low-cost power.
Recent experience has demonstrated that renewables sources like wind and solar provide a vital
counterpoint to traditional fuel sources and can help maintain grid stability during times when
traditional sources may fail to perform as expected.

E. Renewable Energy is Low-Cost Generation With and Without Subsidies

Another commonly misstated aspect of renewable energy’s place in the marketplace relates to
pricing. It is not unusual to hear lay commentators make claims that renewable energy is a higher
cost option than coal or natural gas, or that renewable energy would not be viable without
assistance from federal subsidies. The truth is that these claims are both outdated and incorrect.
First, all sources of electricity generation have subsidies and, in fact, if all tax incentives were
removed from all sources of electricity generation, renewables benefit even more. For example,
oil and gas have subsidies such as the intangible drilling cost deduction that accounts for an up to
80%-+ tax deduction in the first year and has been in place since 1913.

Fortunately, and as discussed below, studies have shown that renewable generation,
specifically wind and solar, are most often the lowest cost option for generation and, thanks to the
large volume and expansive geographic scope of the RTOs, are often being seen as a reliable
substitute for baseload generation. These studies aside, the reality of the free market also
demonstrates the point clearly, as utilities across the United States are responding to the market
pricing and adding significant amounts wind and solar generation due to the benefit to ratepayers.
Utilities in South Dakota and the SPP have no clean energy or green agenda, but they do favor low
cost and reliable energy.

Current market research clearly shows the favorable cost comparisons of wind generation
versus coal and natural gas. Lazards, one of the world’s leading financial advisory and asset
management firms, releases an annual study that analyzes the levelized costs of energy (“LCOE”)
from each of the various generation technologies, meaning the cost of each source of generation
if tax incentives were removed. More specifically, the Lazard Power, Energy & Infrastructure

3 Suskie, Paul, Southwest Power Pool, presentation to the Kansas Special Committee on Energy and Utilities,
“SPP Resource Adequacy Overview”

95307110.3



n
rF’IOLSINELLI

group calculates the cost of each type of generation and fuel source on a $/MWh basis, removing
the impact of U.S. federal tax subsidies.

The Lazard report directly addresses the question of whether renewables require subsidies to
be cost competitive with oil and gas generation by comparing the levelized cost of each source
without subsidies. The results clearly demonstrate the value that renewable generation provides as
compared to other sources.*

|_( :G‘): | LAZARD'S LEVELIZED GOST OF ENERGY ANALYSIS—VERSION 16.0

Levelized Cost of Energy Comparison—Unsubsidized Analysis

Selected renewable energy generation technologies are cost-competitive with conventional generation technologies under certain circumstances

Sdr PV~ Residontel s | <
SolrPU~Conemaiy & C4 s I
Solar PV—Utdity-Scale 524 _ $96
Salar PV + Storage—Utiity-Scale 846 _ 102
Gt sl we
Wind—Onshare $24 _ §75
Wind + Starage—Onshore $42 _ $114

Renewable Energy

J— svs [ -
Nuclear®) $141 | |82
Conventional fRtemsmmssssssessessssssssssessssssssssseseey
Coal® $68 : : §166
$0 $25 $50 $75 $100 $125 $150 $175 $200 $225 $250 $275 $300
[ Levelized Cost of Energy (S/MWh) |

Source: Lazard and Roland Bargar sstmates and pus ey s inermatin
v indlicatiad, e analy: %, et 3t an 8% and 40% equity a2 12% cost. See page Sted L 1t of Energy 1

oor e i Idgeotrermal pro op o LEOE presented hemin mpresents Lazard's LCOE v15.0 results adjusted b infaion.
3 SMMET for year avereyear comparison purpases. Ses page fed “Levsized Cost of Energy Conparison—Sensifity 1o

ganerafion sirategies, e LCOE pressried herein represents Lazard s LOOE w150 msults

e of decomnissioring costs far
ane derived from & bencrmark of o

= Aeulysis ssumes it the
ned cycle, coal and mcear
oo G Enamgy Comparisan,

.q;m'ms Lazard's LOOE +15.0 resubts adusted for indaion. High end incerparates 00% caron cptum and

projects, haLCOE

ycle inouts using a 20% blend of “Biue” ydmgen, fe. hydrogen praduced Fom a stam meane refmer. using Rt gas as afesdsinck, and sequestering
o pi = are assumed beyond 3 2% ajusenent o $1e plan(s heat mte The orespanding &l costi = 35 20MMBTU) swsurring 281 401k for Bius Pyckagen 2
Repressrts e [COE of e otared high case gas cambined cyde imute Lsing a 20% bisnd of-Gresr rr,d cger, -8, Ryckogen e Ko an slecslyser pouered By i of wind 1 solar gerarain are shedin
reary salt cawvem). o plant modiicsions am assumed beyond a2% adustment fa e plands heat rate fuel cast s 5415 kgler

LAZARD

Copyright 2023 Lazard

As you can see from the above chart, the levelized cost of onshore wind generation without
subsidies ranges from $24-$75/MWh. The higher end of this range typically reflects projects that
are located on the east coast or in areas where the wind resource is lower or projects are more
geographically constrained, leading to a higher cost to output ratio. That is decidedly not the case
in South Dakota, where a project would have access to an excellent wind resource and would be
in the lower end of that scale. Compare this $24-$75/MWh range for wind to $68-$166/MWh for
Coal and $39-$101/MWh for Gas Combined Cycle and you can clearly see that even without
subsidies, wind generation is often the lowest cost source of electricity.

4 Lazard’s Levelized Cost of Energy Analysis—Version 16.0, April 12, 2023, available at:
https://www.lazard.com/research-insights/2023-levelized-cost-of-energyplus/

95307110.3


https://www.lazard.com/research-insights/2023-levelized-cost-of-energyplus/

n
rF’IOLSINELLI

The point is even more clearly emphasized when you compare the levelized cost, both with
and without subsidies, of building new wind and solar generation as compared against continuing
to operate existing coal and natural gas generation. °

Levelized Cost of Energy Comparison—Renewable Energy versus Marginal Cost of
Selected Existing Conventional Generation Technologies

Certain renewable energy generation technologies have an LCOE that is competitive with the marginal cost of existing conventional
generation

Solar PV + Storage—Utility-Scale $102
Solar PV —Utilty-Scale (ITC)2 $16 $80
Solar PV—Utility-Scale (PTC)? ~ $0 377
Levelized Cost of L il
New-Build Wind and Solar PV + Storage—Ully Swf $31 $88
(ITC)2
Solar
Wind—Onshore (PTC)2 0 $66
Wind + Storage—Onshare
(PTCATC)® §12 $103
Nuclear¥ $29 m $34
Marginal Cost of
Selected Existing
cos [T
Generation!
$0 $10 $20 $30 $40 $50 $60 $70 $80 $90 $100 $110 $120
[Levelized Cost of Energy (SMWHh) |
B Unsubsidized Subsidized M Marginal Cost Marginal Cost Midpoint without Carbon Pricing

Source: Laxam‘ ndﬂa.hndﬂeware stimates a. m‘p Df:ly vaATaﬁlE information.

Mate: tothese used on page lited “Le af Energy Cs Analysis’

1y Raprasanl t= tha marg Iocsl f operati aca‘.edgascomm d cycle, coal and nud nclusive of decommissioning costs for nuclear faciities. Analysis assumes that he salvage value for a

w

coal asset loils andsite resio
US. Capacily factors, fuel, variabls mmdnaMarsna;eamuppar-amhwau-quam\assumam;da
$6.85/MMBTU for Gas Cambined Cycle.

() Saapage tifed “Lavaiizad Cost of Energy Comparison—Sensituity to U S. Fedaral Tax Subsidias” for additional detais.

n costs. Inputs are derived from a benchmark of aperating gas combined cydle, coal and nucear assets across the
from Lazard's research. Assumes a fual cost of $0.79/MMBTU for Nuclear, $3.11/MMBTU for Coal and

Results al this level are driven by Lazard s approach to calculating e LCOE a e selacied r nputs (see Appendix for further details). Lazard's nce purpases, 60%
LAZARD dabt at an 8% interast rate and 40% equity at a 12% cost (ogether implying an afterdax IRRAWACC of 7.7%). Implied IRRs at s lavel for Salar P—! Uthlv Srale[F'TC)equa)sﬂ)h [sx:l Damacte o u; u nd 22% incl 7
Damastic Content) and implied IRRs at this eval for Wind—Onshara [PTC) equals 17% (excl. Domestic Content) and 25% {ingl. Domestic Content).
Copyright 2023 Lazard  (4) The RA is comprehensive lagislation that is still being implamented and remains subject ta interpretation—important elaments of the IRA (.., nudkear subsidies) are natincluded in aur analysis and could impact oulcamas

Even accounting for the upfront cost of engineering and constructing new renewable projects,
the pricing above clearly demonstrates the advantages of increasing our share of renewable
generation as opposed to continuing to operate existing coal and natural gas. New onshore wind
generation’s cost ranges from $24-$75/MWh unsubsidized ($0-$66/MWh accounting for the
federal Production Tax Credit) versus a range of $29-$74/MWh and $51-$73/MWh for coal and
gas combined cycle, respectively. Simply put, it is often cheaper to build a new wind generation
facility than to continue operating existing coal and natural gas facilities.

> Lazard’s Levelized Cost of Energy Analysis—Version 16.0, April 12, 2023, available at:
https://www.lazard.com/research-insights/2023-levelized-cost-of-energyplus/

95307110.3


https://www.lazard.com/research-insights/2023-levelized-cost-of-energyplus/

n
rF’IOLSINELLI

F. WIND DOES NOT MATERIALLY IMPACT NEIGHBORING PROPERTY VALUES

Any time a new large-scale development such as a wind project is proposed in an area, citizens
and community leaders are naturally curious about the potential impact on the surrounding
community. As a result, over the last few

decades few topics have been more thoroughly

studied than the potential economic impacts of ““If you’re concerned about this impact on

wind developments on surrounding property overall residential property value, that should

values. The topic has been reviewed by notbeaconcern.”

independent  third-party valuation experts, —Jeremy Hill, director of Wichita State University’s

governmental research _institutes, developers, Center for E(_:onomlc Development & Business R_esearch
S (2019). https://www.ksn.com/news/local/study-wind-

and local governments utilizing samples of farms-have-no-significant-impact-on-residential-

many thousands of property sales from all across property-values-in-kansas/

the country in and around wind project

footprints. Through all of these studies, an overwhelming consensus conclusion has emerged,

finding that there is no long-term negative impact on surrounding property values, especially in

rural communities. A sampling of the most material studies and conclusions is below.

* Lawrence Berkley National Laboratory (2024)°
— Reviews home transactions across 34 states and 428 unique wind projects occurring
between 2005 and 2020.
— Concludes that impacts to property values are not apparent in home prices near
projects in counties with fewer than 250,000 people.

= Brunner, Eric J., PhD and Schwegman, David J. (2022)"
— Using data on the universe of commercial wind energy installations from 1995 to
2018, found that wind energy installation led to economically meaningful increases
in county GDP per-capita, income per-capita, median household income, and
median home values.
— Found that county-wide home values increase after a wind energy project has begun
operating.

* Marous & Company (2022)8
— Conducted a survey of county assessors across 10 states in which wind farms are
located (41 lowa counties, 11 Minnesota counties, 20 Illinois counties, 5 Indiana

& Brunner, Eric, Ben Hoen, Joseph Rand, David Schwegman, “Commercial Wind Turbines and Residential
Home Values: New Evidence from the Universe of Land-Based Wind Projects in the United States”. Energy Policy.
Accessed at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S03014215230042267?via%3Dihub.

" Brunner, Eric J., PhD and Schwegman, David J., “Commercial wind energy installations and local economic
development: Evidence from U.S. counties, Energy Policy”, Volume 165, 2022, 112993, ISSN 0301-4215. Accessed
at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2022.112993.

8 Marous & Company. 2022. Market Impact Analysis: Shenandoah Hills Wind Project, Fremont County and
Page County, lowa. March 6, 2022

10

95307110.3


https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/earth-and-planetary-sciences/windpower-utilization
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421523004226?via%3Dihub
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2022.112993

n
rF’IOLSI NELLI

counties, 7 Michigan counties, 3 Ohio counties, 6 New York counties, 21 Kansas
counties, 8 South Dakota counties, and 5 West Virginia counties). T

— Found no market evidence to support a negative impact on residential property
values because of the development of and the proximity to a wind farm. They also
concluded that there were no reductions in assessed valuations.

University of California, Davis (2019)°
— The analysis found that studies on the topic of wind turbines and property values
overwhelmingly find that wind turbines do not negatively impact property values
at any point during their installment, including post-announcement, during
construction and post-construction.

Wichita State University (2019)%°
— Compared property value data between all rural Kansas counties with wind farms
and all rural Kansas counties without wind farms
— Concluded that counties with operating wind farms saw a slight increase in property
value compared to counties without operating wind farms

University of Oklahoma (2018)*!

— Reviewed 23,000 residential real estate records in five counties in Western
Oklahoma, exploring the sale price of platted and unplatted properties before
announcement, after announcement, and after turbine construction.

— Found no significant decrease in property values for homes or unplatted property
near wind farms. Among plots of unplatted land between 0.5 - 1 mile away from
turbines, found the median sale price increased.

Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (2015)%
— Analyzed more than 50,000 home sales near 67 wind projects across nine states and
1,198 post-construction sales within 1 mile of a wind turbine.
— Found ““no statistical evidence that operating wind turbines have had any
measurable impact on home sales prices.”

® Brinkley, Catherine and Leach, Andrew. 2019. “Energy next door: a meta-analysis of energy

infrastructure impact on housing value.” Energy Research and Social Science. Accessed at:
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S2214629618300495

10 Wichita State University, “Wind Project Effects on Kansas Counties’ Property Values,” Accessed at:

https://www.greaterhutch.com/media/userfiles/subsite 24/files/Wind%20Power%20Property%20Value%20Analysi

s.pdf.

11 Castleberry, Becca and Greene, John Scott. 2018. “Wind power and real estate prices in Oklahoma.”

International Journal of Housing Markets and Analysis. Accessed at:
https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/1JHMA-02-2018-0010/full/html

12 Hoen, Ben; Brown, Jason P.; Jackson, Thomas; Thayer, Mark; Wiser, Ryan; and Cappers, Peter. 2015.

“Spatial Hedonic Analysis of the Effects of Us Wind Energy Facilities on Surrounding Property Values.” The Journal
of Real Estate Finance and Economics. Accessed at: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11146-014-9477-9

11

95307110.3


https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S2214629618300495
https://www.greaterhutch.com/media/userfiles/subsite_24/files/Wind%20Power%20Property%20Value%20Analysis.pdf
https://www.greaterhutch.com/media/userfiles/subsite_24/files/Wind%20Power%20Property%20Value%20Analysis.pdf
https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/IJHMA-02-2018-0010/full/html
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11146-014-9477-9

n
rF’IOLSI NELLI

As these studies and many others clearly demonstrate, with several decades of data from tens
of thousands of wind turbines operating across the United States, we do not need to speculate about
potential impacts on property values. Acclaimed experts from a wide variety of independent
institutions and governmental agencies have poured over tax records, sales data, and experiential
reports and roundly concluded that there is no demonstrable impact on sales values in rural
communities for residential property or agricultural properties that can be attributed to neighboring
wind projects.

G. CONCLUSION

Any time significant development occurs in an area, it is good for local policymakers to seek
quality information about how that development will integrate into the community. This task is
made more difficult in an industry as complex as electrical generation, especially given the
substantial amounts of speculation and misinformation that arise when an inherently non-political
issue (energy infrastructure) becomes unnecessarily politicized. Fortunately, we do not have to
speculate about the impact of a wind project, as we have decades of experience and data from
communities just like Yankton County that have successfully hosted wind farms and experienced
first-hand the benefits that it can bring.

As you consider policy changes related to wind projects, | would encourage you to seriously
consider the source and veracity of the information put before you. Rely on peer-reviewed
research, independent third parties, and the decades of experience from wind projects in similarly
positioned counties. Look to experts in their fields instead of speculation, and remember that any
additional burdens that you enact have a countering impact on property rights, materially harming
a constituent’s ability to utilize their property for a valid, legal, and socially beneficial purpose.
With these principles in mind, | am confident you will implement good policy.

| appreciate the opportunity to speak with you today and look forward to addressing any
guestions you may have.

12
95307110.3



	Item 9 Wind Power Discussion
	Overview
	Benefits
	Projected Local Economic Impact
	How a Wind Turbine Works

	Final OEHM Siting Guidance for Wind Turbines Yankton PC
	Slide 1: Proposed Setback Siting Guidelines for  Wind Energy Projects in Yankton County
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: Other Jurisdiction Turbine Setbacks
	Slide 6: State of Wind Turbine Research and Health Effects
	Slide 7
	Slide 8: Wind Turbine Sound Guidelines
	Slide 9: Low frequency noise  and infrasound
	Slide 10: Shadow Flicker
	Slide 11: Physical safety considerations
	Slide 12
	Slide 13: Blade Fragment Throw and Tower Collapse
	Slide 14
	Slide 15: OEHM Setback Recommendations
	Slide 16: OEHM Sound / Shadow Flicker Recommendations
	Slide 17: Conclusion
	Slide 18

	OEHM Wind Turbine Siting Report 13 May 2024
	NEER - SD - Yankton County Commission - Anderson Testimony-c



